UNIVERSIDADE DE LISBOA FACULDADE DE CIÊNCIAS DEPARTAMENTO DE BIOLOGIA ANIMAL



# **Angiogenesis in Atherosclerosis**

# Expression Analysis of Notch Signaling Components in Human Atherosclerotic Lesions

Constança d'Orey Pereira Coutinho

## Mestrado em Biologia Humana e Ambiente

Dissertação orientada por: Doutora Ana Teresa Tavares (FMV) Prof.ª Doutora Ana Maria Crespo (FCUL)

The references in this work are written according to Atherosclerosis Journal guidelines.

"When I despair, I remember that all through history the ways of truth and love have always won".

Mahatma Gandhi

### AGRADECIMENTOS

Em primeiro lugar gostava de agradecer à Doutora Ana Teresa Tavares por ter aceite ser minha orientadora e me permitir trabalhar neste projecto. Mais que isso obrigada pelo que me foi ensinando. Pelos seus conselhos, pelas suas revisões, pela sua paciência principalmente nos últimos dias, e acima de tudo pela sua dedicação.

Um obrigada também à Professora Doutora Ana Maria Crespo por ter aceite ser minha orientadora interna, e pelo apoio e palavras queridas que me disse neste tempo.

Obrigada à Doutora Helena Canhão, Doutor João Eurico da Fonseca, Doutor Luis Mendes Pedro, Doutor José Fernandes e Fernandes, Doutor Dusan Djokovic pela colaboração neste estudo, fornecimento das amostras, e por tudo o que isso envolveu. Pelas mesmas razões um obrigada especial à Diana Carmona Fernandes.

Ao Doutor Alexandre Trindade um enorme obrigada. Por todas as conversas cheias de sabedoria que fomos tendo ao longo do ano, por toda a paciência, toda a ajuda, toda a motivação que me passaste, e por toda a amizade que sempre demonstraste para comigo. Contigo aprendi que inteligência e sabedoria são coisas muito distintas, e isso valeu por muito! Obrigada também pela constante boa disposição e calma com que me contagiaste.

O maior obrigada de todos à Joana Gigante Carinhas. Nada do que possa escrever irá mostrar o quanto te estou agradecida. Pela amizade desde o primeiro minuto em que te conheci, pela ajuda, pela muita paciência que tiveste comigo, por tudo o que me ensinaste, por tudo o que partilhámos. Agradeço do fundo do coração teres-me ajudado a crescer ao longo deste ano.

Um grande obrigada ao meu tio Pedro pela ajuda enorme que me foi dando a melhorar o meu inglês, pela paciência, pelo tempo que dispensou.

Não posso deixar de agradecer a todos os meus melhores amigos que passaram comigo este ano e me ajudaram sempre que precisei. E a ti Tomás, que nunca saíste do meu lado, e por mais coisas que aconteçam me fazeres sempre sentir segura e protegida. Obrigada por acreditares sempre em mim.

À minha família incrível, que são o meu pilar, são a minha base, e se sou o que sou e faço o que faço muito lhes devo a eles. Um obrigada especial à minha mãe querida. Por me ter apoiado incondicionalmente e por, acima de tudo, me dar sempre espaço para poder escolher e a qualquer altura poder mudar. A si e ao mano principalmente, porque ao viverem comigo me aturaram, apoiaram e mimaram tanto ao longo deste ano.

Foram tempos de aprendizagens a todos os níveis. Aprendi mais sobre ciência e aprendi mais sobre a vida. E por isso, que acaba por ser quase tudo, estou muito agradecida por este ano, e a todos os que fizeram parte dele.

### ABSTRACT

Atherosclerosis is a degenerative disease of large muscular and elastic arteries characterized by endothelial dysfunction, vascular inflammation, and the progressive development of intima plaques (atheroma). As the atherosclerotic plaque develops, the process of angiogenesis occurs, with the growth of new vessels arising from the adventitial *vasa vasorum* into the media and intima layers. This modulates plaque growth and stability. The new microvessels are immature, fragile, leaky and may lead to intraplaque hemorrhages, thrombosis and vessel obstruction. Inhibition of atheroma neovascularization has therefore been proposed as an approach to restrict lesion growth promoting its stabilization.

Delta-like 4 (Dll4)/Notch pathway has been implicated in the regulation of angiogenesis and blood vessel maturation, which introduces DLL4 as potential target for atherosclerosis treatment. In this study, the expression patterns of DLL4/Notch pathway components were analyzed by immunolabeling of histological sections from human atherosclerotic plaque samples. These expression patterns were correlated with the level of *vasa vasorum* maturation and type of atherosclerotic lesion (progression stage).

In summary, the expression results indicated that more advanced lesions present more microvessels but these have less pericyte coverage, which underscores the immaturity of this neovasculature. In parallel, the expression of DLL4 is detected in lower levels in *vasa vasorum* of early lesions and at higher levels in more advanced plaques. These observations indicate that the number of endothelial cells expressing DLL4 increases as immature microvessels proliferate during disease progression. Although it did not present significant correlation with lesion progression, it was also possible to detect the presence of NOTCH1 receptor in endothelial cells of immature microvessels in advanced lesions.

This research contributed to rise our level of knowledge on the molecular regulators of angiogenesis in human atherosclerotic lesions, elucidate the correlation between *vasa vasorum* maturation and plaque progression, and support a potential therapeutic application of Dll4/Notch signaling modulators in the stabilization of atherosclerotic lesions.

Key-Words: angiogenesis, atherosclerosis, Dll4/Notch, human carotid plaques, vasa vasorum.

### RESUMO

A aterosclerose é uma doença degenerativa das artérias de grande e médio calibre, que se caracteriza pela ocorrência de disfunção endotelial, inflamação vascular, e acumulação de lípidos, cálcio, colesterol e detritos celulares na camada íntima. Estes eventos patológicos levam à formação da placa aterosclerótica (ateroma), remodelação vascular, obstrução luminal, alterações no fluxo sanguíneo, e diminuição do fornecimento de oxigénio a órgãos alvo, o que pode resultar em eventos cardíacos isquémicos e acidente vascular cerebral. Os factores de risco que aceleram significativamente o processo de aterogénese (i.e., formação de placas ateroscleróticas na parede interna do vaso sanguíneo) são a hipertensão, diabetes, tabagismo, obesidade, estilo de vida sedentário, factores hereditários, bem como elevados níveis de lipoproteínas de baixa densidade (LDL) e baixos níveis de lipoproteínas de alta densidade (HDL).

O desenvolvimento de placas ateroscleróticas pode ser classificado em diversas fases. Hoje em dia a classificação recomendada pela *American Heart Association* (AHA) consiste em oito categorias que incluem lesões iniciais (assintomáticas; tipos I-III) e lesões avançadas (sintomáticas; tipos IV-VIII), cada uma com características histológicas específicas. Com o crescimento progressivo da placa aumenta também o grau de estenose luminal. Para pacientes sintomáticos com estenose severa (maior que 70%) é recomendada endarterectomia da carótida, um procedimento cirúrgico que consiste na remoção da placa aterosclerótica. Para casos sintomáticos de estenose entre 50 a 69% os benefícios da cirurgia existem mas são menores. Por outro lado, para pacientes assintomáticos que apresentem grau de estenose maior que 70% a endarterectomia da carótida é também indicada mas com uma eficiência significativamente inferior. As amostras obtidas a partir desta cirurgia são muitas vezes utilizadas em estudos histológicos, tal como foi o caso deste projecto.

Existem três grandes mecanismos de disrupção da placa aterosclerótica que podem levar a eventos trombóticos: ruptura da cápsula fibrosa, erosão superficial e disrupção dos vasos sanguíneos que se formam no interior da placa (com maior importância para este trabalho). O desenvolvimento progressivo da placa aterosclerótica está associado ao processo de angiogénese, isto é, ao crescimento de novos vasos sanguíneos a partir dos *vasa vasorum* da camada adventícia, que se estendem através das camadas média e íntima. Estes microvasos recém-formados são imaturos, frágeis e permeáveis, podendo levar a hemorragias no interior da placa. A consequente acumulação de eritrócitos e inflamação provocam ruptura das placas mais vulneráveis, originando trombose arterial e obstrução vascular.

A grande importância destes microvasos em ateromas tem sido revelada em estudos com modelos animais de ratinhos deficientes na apolipoproteína-E (ApoE-/-), mostrando que a inibição da neovascularização com inibidores de angiogénese leva a uma diminuição acentuada do crescimento da lesão. Em placas ateroscleróticas humanas, onde os microvasos já existem, a estabilização ou "normalização" da microvasculatura imatura tem sido proposta como uma estratégia para prevenir a hemorragia intraplaca e restringir o tamanho da lesão, promovendo assim a sua estabilização. Os vasos normalizados são menos frágeis, dilatados e sinuosos, apresentando uma membrana basal normal e uma maior cobertura de pericitos (indicador de maturidade vascular). Além de prevenir a hemorragia intraplaca, estes vasos normalizados irão também permitir uma melhor perfusão de agentes terapêuticos para o interior da placa.

A grande diversidade de indutores angiogénicos, incluindo factores de crescimento, quimiocinas, enzimas angiogénicos, receptores específicos endoteliais e moléculas de adesão, representa uma grande variedade de potenciais alvos terapêuticos para a restrição da neovascularização patológica. Dentro destes, a via de sinalização Delta-like 4 (Dll4)/Notch merece um foco especial, uma vez que ao apresentar um papel crucial no desenvolvimento vascular embrionário e

na angiogénese fisiológica e patológica, possuí um elevado potencial terapêutico para doenças associadas a proliferação vascular anómala, como é o caso da aterosclerose. Os componentes principais da via de sinalização Notch no sistema vascular incluem três ligandos, DLL4, Jagged1 (JAG1), e Jagged2 (JAG2); três receptores, NOTCH1, 3 e 4; e três genes alvos, *HERP1/HEY2*, *HERP2/HEY1*, e *HERP3*.

A maioria dos estudos funcionais que incidem sobre os factores reguladores da angiogénese têm sido realizados em tumores pelo facto de representarem um potencial alvo terapêutico. DLL4 é fundamental para a maturação dos vasos recém-formados. Tem sido demonstrado que a inibição da via de sinalização Dll4/Notch bem como o tratamento com anticorpos anti-DLL4 levam a um aumento significativo da densidade vascular, mas simultaneamente restringem o tamanho do tumor, uma vez que os microvasos formados são imaturos e têm baixa capacidade de perfusão. Por outro lado, a sobre-expressão da via de sinalização Dll4/Notch resulta numa diminuição da densidade vascular tumoral, com vasos tumorais menos ramificados mas funcionais. Indo de acordo com o observado na vasculatura tumoral, os nossos trabalhos piloto demonstraram que Dll4 também é expresso nos *vasa vasorum* de placas ateroscleróticas de ratinhos ApoE-/-. Desta forma, a via de sinalização Notch apresenta-se como um potencial regulador da maturação dos *vasa vasorum* em lesões ateroscleróticas.

Torna-se assim importante determinar o papel da via de sinalização Dll4/Notch na angiogénese e progressão de lesões ateroscleróticas humanas. O presente estudo teve como objectivo analisar a expressão de componentes da via de sinalização Dll4/Notch em ateromas humanos, e correlacionar os seus níveis com o grau de maturação dos *vasa vasorum* e com a fase de progressão da lesão. Para tal, um fragmento de cada amostra (i.e., ateroma da carótida) foi avaliado e classificado conforme o tipo de lesão aterosclerótica (fase de progressão) através de coloração com Hematoxilina-Eosina, e posteriormente a expressão de componentes da via de sinalização Dll4/Notch e de marcadores de maturação vascular foi analisada por imunomarcação de cortes histológicos (imunofluorescência). Inicialmente, procedemos à optimização do protocolo de imunofluorescência em amostras de ateroma humano não incluídas nos grupos experimentais, tendo como objectivo minimizar a autofluorescência natural que estes tecidos apresentam. Secções histológicas de placenta foram usadas como controlo positivo para avaliar se determinados anticorpos primários marcavam correctamente as células esperadas, bem como para determinar a concentração óptima de anticorpo a utilizar.

Os nossos resultados mostram uma associação entre a densidade microvascular e a progressão da lesão aterosclerótica, sendo que as lesões mais avançadas apresentam mais microvasos com menor cobertura de pericitos, o que indica imaturidade da neovasculatura. Paralelamente, a expressão de DLL4 é detectada a baixos níveis em lesões precoces e a níveis mais elevados em lesões mais avançadas. Estas observações indicam que o número de células endoteliais que expressam DLL4 aumenta à medida que os microvasos imaturos proliferam durante a progressão da lesão. Apesar de não ter mostrado correlação com o grau de lesão, foi possível verificar também a presença do receptor NOTCH1 em lesões mais avançadas, mostrando ser expresso em células endoteliais de microvasos imaturos.

Tínhamos ainda como objectivo inicial avaliar por PCR em tempo real os níveis de expressão e activação da via de sinalização Notch e outras vias de sinalização envolvidas na angiogénese e/ou inflamação e maturação dos vasos. Contudo, apesar dos diferentes testes utilizados, não foi possível contornar a existência de contaminação genómica no cDNA que nos foi fornecido, entre outros problemas técnicos, e assim este ensaio não pôde ser optimizado nem finalizado.

Em conclusão, os resultados deste projecto contribuiram para elevar o nível de conhecimento em relação aos reguladores moleculares da angiogénese em lesões ateroscleróticas humanas, clarificar a correlação entre a maturação dos *vasa vasorum* e a progressão das placas, e dar suporte à hipótese de utilização de Dll4/Notch como um novo alvo terapêutico na estabilização das lesões ateroscleróticas.

**Palavras-Chave:** angiogénese, aterosclerose, Dll4-Notch, placas ateroscleróticas de carótidas humanas, *vasa vasorum*.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

AG	GRADECIMENTOS	i	
AB	3STRACT	ii	
RE	ESUMO	iii	
LIS	ST OF ABBREVIATIONS	viii	
1	CONTEXT AND BACKGROUND	1	
2	AIMS	8	
3	MATERIALS AND METHODS	9	
	3.1 Biological samples	9	
	3.1.1 Origin of human samples	9	
	3.1.2 Tissue Preparation	9	
	3.2 Histology and plaque characterization	10	
	3.3 Gene expression	10	
	3.3.1 RNA extraction and Complementary DNA (cDNA) synthesis	10	
	3.3.2 Real time-quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR)	11	
	3.3.3 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)	11	
	3.4 Immunofluorescence		
	3.5 Statistical analysis		
4	RESULTS	14	
	4.1 Classification of atherosclerotic lesions	14	
	4.2 Immunofluorescence method optimization		
	4.2.1 Protocol testing to reduce autofluorescence		
	4.2.2 Positive control for expression analysis (human placenta)		
	4.3 Expression analysis of atheroma sections by immunofluorescence	17	
	4.3.1 Microvessel density evaluation	17	
	4.3.2 Pericyte coverage		
	4.3.3 DLL4/NOTCH expression	19	
	4.4 RT-qPCR protocol optimization		
5	DISCUSSION		
6	REFERENCES		
7	ANNEXES		
	Annex I - Statement of Informed Consent		
	Annex II – Clinical Protocol		
	Annex III - Solutions and Buffers	44	
	Annex IV – Primer Sequences	45	

## **FIGURES INDEX**

Figure 1.1. Scheme of a normal human coronary artery consisting of three concentric layers 1
Figure 1.2. Atherosclerotic plaque formation
Figure 1.3. Atherosclerotic lesions progression
Figure 1.4. Adventitial and intraplaque microvessels
Figure 1.5. Concept of physiological angiogenesis
Figure 1.6. Proposed "normalization" of immature vessels in the plaque and its implications in
atherosclerotic angiogenesis
Figure 1.7. Notch signaling pathway
Figure 4.1. A. Atherosclerotic plaques removed from carotid artery at 95% stenosis; B. Section of
human carotid sample; C-H. Hematoxilin and Eosin staining of atherosclerotic plaques of type VI 14
Figure 4.2. Autofluorescence of unstained atheroma sections
Figure 4.3. Atheroma tissue sections subject to different protocols to remove autofluorescence 15
Figure 4.4. Immunofluorescence staining for PECAM/CD31 in atheroma sections using protocols 3
and 4
Figure 4.5. Immunofluorescent staining of placental tissue sections
Figure 4.6. Immunostaining for the vascular marker PECAM in atherosclerotic plaque sections 17
Figure 4.7. Microvessel density (MVD) in each group of lesion stages
Figure 4.8. Immunostaining of atherosclerotic plaque sections labeled for PECAM and NG2 to
evaluate pericyte coverage
Figure 4.9. Immunostaining for DLL4 in sections from atherosclerotic plaques of each group Error!
Bookmark not defined.
Figure 4.10. Immunostaining of twin sections from an atherosclerotic plaque of group 3, marked for
PECAM, DLL4, CD34 and NOTCH1
Figure 4.11. RT-qPCR melting curves for the amplification of VEGF, HEY2, VEGFR2, ANG1, ANG2
and TIE2 showing specific product peaks
Figure 4.12. RT-qPCR melting curves for the amplification of PECAM, DLL4, a-SMA, NOTCH1,
JAG1, VEGFR2, CALPONIN, EPHB2, HEY1, PDGFRβ, CD34 and CD68 showing primer-dimers or
nonspecific product peaks
Figure 4.13. A. Schematic representation of human DLL4 cDNA and genomic structure, indicating
the localization of the three primer pairs tested in RT-qPCR and PCR (Dll4, Dll4new and Dll4 160bp).
B. Gel electrophoresis of PCR products for DLL4 using the Dll4 160bp primers

## **TABLES INDEX**

Table 3.1. RT-qPCR reaction conditions.	11
Table 3.2. Antibodies used in immunofluorescence assay.	13
Table 7.1. Primers sequence used in real time PCR (RT-qPCR).	45

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AHA	American Heart Association
ANG2	Angiopoietin 2
ApoE-/-	Apolipoprotein E-deficient mice
BSA	Bovine serum slbumin
cDNA	Complementary DNA
CHLN-HSM	Centro Hospital Lisboa Norte - Hospital de Santa Maria
DAPI	4', 6'-diamidino-2-phenylindole, dihydrochloride
DDT	DL-Dithiothreitol
DIT	Diffuse intimal thickening
DLL4	Delta-like 4
dNTP	Deoxyribonucleoside triphosphate
ECs	Endothelial cells
FMV	Faculdade de Medicina Veterinária
HDL	High-density lipoprotein
IMM	Instituto de Medicina Molecular
JAG	Jagged
LDL	Low-density lipoprotein
NICD	Notch intracellular domain
OCT	Optimal cutting temperature
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
rRNA	Ribosomal RNA
RT	Room temperature
RT-qPCR	Real time – quantitative polymerase chain reaction
SMCs	Smooth muscle cells
SPSS	Statistical package for the social sciences
T <sub>m</sub>	Melting temperature
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VEGFR1	Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 1

### **1 CONTEXT AND BACKGROUND**

Atherosclerosis is the main cause of death in the developed world. It's a degenerative disease [1] of large muscular and elastic arteries [1,2] characterized by progressive vascular inflammation, endothelial dysfunction, and accumulation of lipids, calcium, cholesterol, and cellular debris within the tunica intima of the vessel wall. These pathological events lead to plaque (atheroma) formation, vascular remodeling, acute and chronic luminal obstruction, abnormalities on blood flow, and decreased oxygen supply to target organs [1], which may consequently result in ischemic cardiac events and stroke [3–5]. Atherosclerotic lesions preferentially develop in injury-prone areas such as bifurcations [6], as these are regions with small vessel diameter and/or where the blood flow is disrupted [7]. Risk factors that significantly accelerate atherogenesis, the formation of subintimal plaques, are hypertension, diabetes mellitus, serum lipid deficiency, smoking, obesity, a sedentary lifestyle and hereditary factors [5,8]. Moreover, despite not being the main cause, elevated levels of circulating low-density lipoprotein (LDL) and decreased levels of circulating high-density lipoprotein (HDL) strongly predispose the progress of the disease [2,5]. These stimuli have a direct or indirect effect on the damage of the vascular endothelium, triggering an inflammatory cascade through leukocytes that release a variety of mediators. In this way, blood vessel composition, function and integrity remain affected [9].

All large vessels are composed of three concentric layers (*e.g.*, human coronary artery; Figure 1.1): (1) an inner layer adjacent to the vessel lumen, the intima (*tunica intima*, intimal layer), (2) a middle layer, the media (*tunica media*, medial layer), and (3) an outer layer, the adventitia (*tunica adventitia*, adventitial layer) [9,10].



**Figure 1.1.** Scheme of a normal human coronary artery consisting of three concentric layers: an inner layer, the *tunica intima*; a middle layer, the *tunica media*, and an outer layer, the *tunica adventitia*. The intima evolves from a single-cell-layer after birth to a multi-layered cell structure known as diffuse intimal thickening (DIT) in adults. The internal elastic membrane acts as a barrier between the intima and the underlying media. The media consists of multiple layers of smooth muscle cells, much more tightly packed than in the diffusely thickened intima, and embedded in a matrix of elastin and collagen. The external elastic membrane separates the media from the adventitia, which consists of fibrous tissue surrounded by nerves, lymphatic vessels, and *vasa vasorum* (adapted from [2]).

The intima is the layer between (and including) the endothelial surface adjacent to the lumen and the luminal border of the media [7], and it evolves from a single-cell-layer after birth to a multilayered cell structure known as diffuse intimal thickening (DIT) in adults [11]. This layer receives oxygen and nutrients through diffusion from the arterial lumen [2]. The endothelial surface provides a smooth luminal lining and a selective diffusion barrier between the blood and the other layers [10], and regulates the vascular tone, platelet activation, monocyte adhesion and inflammation, thrombus or blood clot formation, lipid metabolism, cellular growth and vascular remodeling [1]. The intima is separated from the media by the internal elastic membrane (internal elastic lamina, *elastica interna*), a fenestrated sheet of elastic tissue that may be fragmented, duplicated, or focally lost with advancing age or intimal disease [10]. The media consists of tightly packed multiple layers of smooth muscle cells (SMCs), involved in a matrix of elastin, collagen and proteoglycans [12]. Between the media and the adventitia lies the external elastic membrane (external elastic lamina, *elastica externa*), composed of interrupted layers of elastin [10]. Lastly, the adventitia consists of fibrous tissue [10,13] surrounded by nerves, lymphatic vessels, and *vasa vasorum* [10]. The *vasa vasorum*, or "vessels of a vessel", are a fine network of microvessels that stand on the adventitia and enter the outer media of the host vessel wall [14,15]. Their principal functions are nutrient and oxygen delivery as well as removal of systemic waste products [16].

Currently, the accepted cause of atherosclerosis is the increased hyperplasia of the *tunica intima* [2], which can be triggered by a variety of nonspecific signals [17]. The progression of the disease can be generally explained by maladaptive local inflammatory responses [18]. With the recruitment of inflammatory cells from de the blood [8,19,20], the monocyte enter to the subendothelium, differentiate into macrophage and ingest retained and modified lipoproteins to become cholesterol-laden foam cells [8,21,12] (both of them, macrophages and foam cells, usually marked with antibody against CD68 [22–25]), the hallmark of the earliest lesion of atherosclerosis [26]. As lesions progress, medial SMCs proliferate and migrate into the intima. The consequent accumulation of SMCs promotes the formation of a collagenous fibrous cap [18,19], a distinct layer of SMCs in a collagenous-proteoglycan matrix [3,27] completely covering the lipid core [27,28]. In advanced lesions, as a result of macrophages apoptosis, a necrotic core develops underneath the fibrous cap, being filled with lipids, extracellular debris, cholesterol crystals, proteases, and procoagulant/thrombotic material [18,29] (Figure 1.2).



**Figure 1.2.** Atherosclerotic plaque formation. Inflammation leads to recruitment of inflammatory cells from the blood, with monocytes traversing the microvascular endothelium and differentiating into macrophages and these into foam cells. With lesion progression, smooth muscle cells proliferate and accumulate in the intima, promoting the formation of a collagenous fibrous cap (adapted from [30]).

According to the main stages of the disease, and based on histologic analysis, atherosclerotic plaques can be classified in different categories [7,31,32] (Figure 1.3). The classification of atherosclerotic plaques recommended by the American Heart Association (AHA) was developed by Stary and his colleagues, and consists of eight numeric types that include early (type I to III) and advanced lesions (type IV to VIII) [31,32]. The initial (type I) lesion is characterized by an increase in macrophages and subsequent formation of lipid-laden foam cells. Type II lesions consist of multiple layers of SMCs and macrophage foam cells, and also include fatty streaks, yellow-colored streaks on the intimal surface of arteries [32]. Type III lesions contain an amount of extracellular lipid droplets and particles that affect the coherence of intimal SMCs. This extracellular lipid accumulation becomes larger, confluent, and more disruptive, the so-called lipid core, characterizing type IV lesions. These lesions may also contain thick layers of fibrous connective tissue - type V lesion, and/or fissure, hematoma, and thrombus - type VI lesion [31]. Some type VI lesions may be largely calcified representing type VII and some consist mainly of fibrous tissue with accumulations of lipid or calcium – type VIII [33].



Figure 1.3. Atherosclerotic lesions progression. The main histological characteristics of each lesion type (from I to VIII) are indicated (adapted from [31]).

With progressive plaque growth the luminal stenosis increases [9], and its degree can be ascertained through conventional imaging techniques such as coronary angiography, intravascular ultrasound and optical coherence tomography [34]. For symptomatic patients with severe stenosis (greater than 70%), carotid endarterectomy, a surgical procedure to remove the atherosclerotic plaque, is indicated with clear benefit, and for symptomatic patients with stenosis greater than 50-69% the benefit is lower but still exists. For asymptomatic patients with a degree of stenosis greater than 70% carotid endarterectomy is also indicated but with a significant lower efficiency [35]. Samples obtained from this surgical procedure are often used in histology studies [36].

Two mechanisms of plaque disruption are the rupture of the fibrous cap and superficial erosion [26,27], which promote the expansion of the lesions and may lead to thrombosis [27]. The vulnerability of the plaque to ruptur depends on the integrity of the fibrous cap, which, in turn, is influenced by inflammatory processes within the vessel wall that trigger decreased matrix synthesis, increased matrix degradation, and cell death [26]. Fissure of the fibrous cap allows the coagulation factors contact with tissue factor [12,26], the main pro-thrombotic stimulus found in the lesion's lipid core [37], leading to thrombus formation [26]. In contrast, local denudation of endothelial cells (ECs, usually marked with PECAM/CD31 and CD34 [34]. PECAM marks fully differentiated vascular ECs

and CD34 both progenitor and mature ECs [38]) occurs due ECs apoptosis or mechanical injury [12,28,39], and provokes superficial erosion of the arterial intima, which may also lead to thrombosis [39].

The other extremely important mechanism of plaque disruption is the process of angiogenesis with disruption of the intraplaque microvessels [26]. Blood vessels are formed through three main processes: vasculogenesis, angiogenesis and arteriogenesis [40]. *De novo* embryonic blood vessel formation occurs via vasculogenesis, in which ECs differentiate and proliferate within a previously avascular tissue, and then coalesce to form a primary tubular network. By a different process, angiogenesis, this initial network can be expanded and modified through pruning and vessel enlargement into arteries and veins, thus forming the connecting branching patterns characteristic of the functional vasculature [41]. Angiogenesis is responsible for the vascularization of specific structures during normal development, and for major new vessel formation in the adult [42]. Arteriogenesis finally occurs with the tightly integration of ECs with surrounding matrix and supporting mural cells [41], which give stability and control to the perfusion [43]. In general, large vessels are surrounded by SMCs (marked with  $\alpha$ -SMA and calponin [44]), whereas small ones are covered by pericytes [41,45] (commonly marked with NG2 [34,45]).

During the formation of atherosclerotic lesions, the early phase of intima thickening is angiogenesis-independent [46]. However, the development of the atherosclerotic plaque is associated with the process of angiogenesis [47,15], mainly in the shoulder regions of the plaque [48] (Figure 1.4). This process involves sprouting, branching, and differential growth of new vessels [41,49] that arise from the adventitial *vasa vasorum* [47,15] and extend through the media into the base of the plaque, where neovascularization is most evident [22,15,50]. These new vessels are morphologically different from adventitia *vasa vasorum* once they have a location closer to the lumen, displaying thicker endothelial walls, a more prominent degree of branching and the presence of dilatations similar to microaneurysms [51].



**Figure 1.4**. Adventitial and intraplaque microvessels. The development of atherosclerotic plaque is associated with the process of angiogenesis, where new vessels arise from the adventitial *vasa vasorum* and extend through the media into the base of the plaque. **A**. Diagram showing longitudinal section (adapted from [36]), **B**. Human atherosclerotic plaque with evidence of *vasa vasorum* sprouting into the plaque (inset; adapted from [52]).

During microvessel development, ECs go through an angiogenic switch from a quiescent, non-proliferative state, to an active and proliferative one. In physiological conditions, endothelial and mural cells are separated from each other by a basement membrane comprised of extracellular matrix proteins. In response to pro-angiogenic signals such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) stimulation, ECs lose their cellular junctions, activate proteases that degrade the adjacent basement membrane becoming invasive and motile [43], and project filopodial extensions [53]. Detachment of mural cells is stimulated by angiopoietin-2 (ANG2), a growth factor that destabilizes the interaction between ECs and their mural cells [54].

VEGF is an important factor for migration and proliferation of ECs [55], and its expression is highly regulated by hypoxia, thus providing a physiological feedback mechanism to promote tissue oxygenation through blood vessel formation [56]. The negative feedback between VEGF and Notch signaling pathways controls the specification of ECs into tip or stalk cells [55]. On one hand, tip cells spearhead new sprouts that sense and respond to guidance signals within the environment. On the other hand, stalk cells proliferate to support sprout elongation and establish the lumen of the new vessel [53]. Under VEGF stimulation (Figure 1.5), the expression of the ligand Delta-like 4 (DLL4) is upregulated in tip cells via VEGF receptor 2 (VEGFR2). In turn, DLL4 activates Notch signalling in the neighboring stalk cells and induces VEGFR1 expression in ECs [55,57]. VEGFR2 internalization and activation is also regulated by Ephrin-B2, a transmembrane ligand for Eph receptors required for early angiogenic remodeling and vascular sprouting [58].

Tie1/2 receptors bind angiopoietin and regulate mature blood vessel stabilization and the interaction between ECs and their supporting cells [59]. The activation of Tie1/2 by ANG2 secreted from the tip cells lead to stalk cell proliferation and survival [60]. Unlike ANG2, ANG1 acts on normal remodeling, stabilization and maturation of the developing vasculature [41,49,61]. In addition to angiopoietins, platelet derived growth factor (PDGF) and its receptor PDGFR $\beta$  are also involved in the stabilization of the new connections by the recruitment of mural cells [62]. The interaction of recruited pericytes with the ligand Jagged 1 (JAG1) induces Notch3 receptor signaling and promotes cell survival and vascular branching [60] as well as the expression of SMC genes, such as  $\alpha$ -SMA and CALPONIN [63]. The quiescence, non-proliferative state is re-established when pro-angiogenic signals decrease and the sprouting process stops [53].



**Figure 1.5.** Concept of physiological angiogenesis. 1) In tip cells, under VEGF stimulation, via VEGFR2 the expression of the ligand Delta-like 4 (DLL4) is upregulated, inducing VEGFR1 expression in ECs downstream. 2) In stalk cells, predominance of VEGFR1 and activation of Tie2 by Ang2 secreted from the tip cell lead to proliferation and survival. 3) Platelet-derived growth factor receptor (PDGFR)- $\beta$  enable pericyte to be attracted to the growing sprout by PDGF, released from tip cells. Interaction of recruited pericyte with endothelial cell–derived Jagged 1 induces the expression of Notch3 and activation of an autoregulatory loop that further enhances Notch3 activation, thereby promoting pericyte survival, investment, vascular branching, and induction of smooth muscle cell genes (adapted from [60]).

Angiogenesis has a dual role in atherosclerosis. On the one hand it is beneficial, as a primary response to hypoxia of the inner layers of the vascular wall, thus promoting collateral growth, decreased residual ischemia and protection of the affected tissue from further damage [64]. On the other hand, the new microvessels are fragile and leaky, leading to local extravasation of plasma proteins, erythrocytes (hemorrhage) and inflammatory cells, and contributing to necrotic core enlargement. Furthermore, most of the intraplaque *vasa vasorum* have poorly formed EC junctions and few mural cells (SMCs and pericytes), which underlie their leakiness [22,50].

It has been shown that the distribution of *vasa vasorum*, related to lesion formation and vessel lumen diameter, may have a critical role in the development of atherosclerotic lesions [47]. Microvessel density is increased in ruptured plaques, as well as in lipid-rich plaques and in lesions with a thin fibrous cap [23,48]. Moreover, microvessel density is higher in lesions with moderate and severe inflammation, and lower in lesions with mild inflammation and large fibrocalcific plaques [23]. Angiogenesis and intraplaque hemorrhage are unlikely to lead directly to rupture, but will trigger a cascade of events instead, such as necrotic core expansion and enhanced inflammation, thus promoting lesion enlargement and fibrous cap thinning with eventual disruption [65]. Under these circumstances, angiogenesis and inflammation often coexist and can mediate rapid plaque progression [22,23,50], converting a chronic process into an acute disorder with a succeeding thromboembolism [64].

The great importance of neovessels in the growth of atherosclerotic plaques has been revealed in studies with apolipoprotein E-deficient (ApoE -/-) mouse models, showing that the inhibition of plaque neovascularization with angiostatin causes a marked suppression of lesion growth. In humans lesions, where microvessels already exist, the stabilization or "normalization" of the immature microvasculature (Figure 1.6) has been proposed as an approach to prevent intraplaque hemorrhage and restrict lesion growth [66,46]. Normalized vessels are less fragile, dilated and winding than abnormal vessels, and have a normal basement membrane and greater coverage by pericytes [67]. In addition to preventing intraplaque hemorrhage and consequent necrotic core enlargement, normalized vessels would allow for better perfusion of therapeutic agents into the plaque [65].



**Figure 1.6.** Proposed "normalization" of immature vessels in the plaque and its implications in atherosclerotic angiogenesis. **A.** Normal human coronary artery, and **(B)** fibroatheroma without and **(C)** fibroatheroma with intraplaque hemorrhage. The endothelium was visualized using of *Ulex europaeus* immunohistochemical staining. **A.** Adventitial *vasa vasorum* can be seen (arrows). **B.** In nonhemorrhagic fibroatheroma the *vasa vasorum* are intimal and show tortuosity and branching. **C.** In fibroatheromas with intraplaque hemorrhage the *vasa vasorum* are disrupted (arrows) with surrounding hemorrhage. It has been shown that intraplaque hemorrhage contributes to necrotic core enlargement and vulnerability to rupture. The specimens A to C are illustrated in corresponding schematics below them. **D.** Jain *et al.* hypothesize that normalization of the *vasa vasorum* with "muscularization" of the capillaries promote vessel stabilization that will prevent plaque hemorrhages and consequently plaque progression. Abbreviations: **A.** adventitia; **I.** intima; **M.** media; **VV.** *vasa vasorum* (adapted from [65]).

The great diversity of angiogenic inducers, comprising growth factors, chemokines, angiogenic enzymes, endothelial-specific receptors, and adhesion molecules represents a wide range of potential therapeutic targets for the elimination of pathological neovascularization [64]. Among these it is worth highlighting the Notch signaling pathway already mentioned, a key regulator of cell fate with a crucial role in blood vessel formation. It regulates vascular development, especially angiogenesis, as well as differentiation of SMCs [68] and ECs (into tip or stalk cells; [69]). The major components of the pathway in the vascular system include three ligands, DLL4, JAG1, and Jagged2 (JAG2); three receptors, NOTCH1, 3, and 4; and three target genes, *HERP1/HEY2, HERP2/HEY1*,

and *HERP3* [68], all involved in multiple aspects of vascular development including smooth muscle differentiation, angiogenic processes, arterial-venous cell specification and vascular morphogenesis. Both receptors and ligands are transmembrane proteins containing an extracellular domain that facilitates the communication between cells. After ligand binding to Notch receptors present on adjacent cells (Figure 1.7), sequential proteolytic cleavages take place, releasing the Notch intracellular domain (NICD). NICD migrates to the nucleus [70,71] where it regulates the expression of the primary target genes of Notch signaling [70,72].



**Figure 1.7.** Notch signaling pathway. Interaction of Notch receptors with their ligands triggers a cascade of enzymatic cleavages of the receptor allowing the Notch intracellular domain (NICD) to migrate into the nucleus where it regulates the expression of target genes of the pathway (adapted from [71]).

Most of the functional studies on the regulatory factors of angiogenesis are conducted in tumors, for they represent potential therapeutic targets. Blocking Dll4/Notch activity as well as the treatment with anti-Dll4 antibodies significantly increases vessel density, but simultaneously restrains tumour growth [73–76]. This occurs due to the low perfusion capacity of microvessels and to their immaturity, for they lack pericytes and smooth muscle cell coverage [73,75]. On the other hand, increased Dll4/Notch activity results in decreased tumor vascular density [73], with straighter, less branched but functional tumor vessels [76]. Concurrently with these findings, our pilot experiments demonstrated that Dll4 is also expressed in plaque *vasa vasorum* of atherosclerosis-affected mice. Taken together, these observations suggest that the Dll4/Notch signaling pathway may be a potential regulator of *vasa vasorum* maturation in atherosclerotic lesions.

The current project aimed at investigating the role of DLL4/Notch signaling in the angiogenesis of human atherosclerotic lesions. To this end, the expression DLL4/Notch pathway components was analyzed in human atherosclerotic plaques at different stages of lesion progression.

### 2 AIMS

Over the last decade, accumulating evidence has implicated atheroma microvessels (*vasa vasorum*) in the regulation of plaque growth and stability. In line with these evidence, the induction of atheroma *vasa vasorum* maturation has recently been proposed as a therapeutic strategy for atherosclerosis. Our team and others have implicated the Dll4/Notch signaling pathway in the regulation of blood vessel maturation, which introduces Dll4 as a potential target for atherosclerosis treatment.

The general goal of our research line is to ascertain the role of the Dll4/Notch pathway in plaque angiogenesis and atherosclerosis progression, and evaluate its function as a potential drug target. In this particular project, our aim was to analyze the expression patterns of DLL4 and other components of the NOTCH signaling pathway in human atherosclerotic lesions, and correlate these patterns with the level of *vasa vasorum* maturation and phase of lesion progression.

In order to achieve this main purpose, we aimed at evaluating the atheroma structure and type of atherosclerotic lesion (progression stage), as well as analyzing the expression of DLL4/Notch pathway components in human atheroma samples, both by immunolabeling and by real time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR). In addition to DLL4/Notch components, markers for vessel maturation and atheroma inflammation were also selected.

Our findings not only contribute to unravel the molecular mechanisms of atheroma angiogenesis, but also help to elucidate the interplay between plaque vessel maturation and atherosclerosis progression. Moreover, this study introduces Dll4/Notch signaling modulators as drug candidates for the treatment of atherosclerosis.

### **3** MATERIALS AND METHODS

### 3.1 Biological samples

### 3.1.1 Origin of human samples

Human carotid endarterectomy samples from 122 patients with advanced atherosclerosis were provided by collaborators at the Vascular Surgery Unit of the "Centro Hospital Lisboa Norte - Hospital de Santa Maria" (CHLN-HSM) and Rheumatology Research Unit at "Instituto de Medicina Molecular" (IMM). Of these 122 samples, 20 were chosen for further analysis (see Section 4.1). Human biological samples of this type were shown to be excellent materials for the study of atheroma-associated *vasa vasorum* [61,77]. This study was approved by the ethics committee of the CHLN-HSM, and was established in collaboration with Helena Canhão and João Eurico da Fonseca from the Rheumatology Research Unit at IMM, as well as with Luis Mendes Pedro and José Fernandes e Fernandes from the Vascular Surgery Unit of CHLN-HSM. The informed consent form (see Annex I) was signed prior to any protocol-specific procedure, and patient data were collected through survey (see Annex II). All proceedures were conducted in compliance with the regulations governing clinical trials and with the Declaration of Helsinki, as amended in Fortaleza, Brazil (2013) [78].

Placental tissue samples were provided by our collaborator Dusan Djokovic at "Hospital de São Francisco Xavier" as part of his clinical research studies. The placenta was elected to be used as a positive control (in both RT-qPCR and immunofluorescence analyses) since it is a vascularized tissue with high expression levels of *DLL4* [79].

### **3.1.2** Tissue Preparation

After surgery, a segment of the whole carotid lesion was dissected into smaller pieces, immediately snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until further use for RNA extraction. The remaining sample was embedded in optimal cutting temperature (OCT®) compound (Sakura, Netherlands), immediately frozen in cooled isopentane (Merck, Germany) and stored at -80°C. These frozen samples were sectioned at 10µm with a tungsten carbide blade in a cryostat Leica model CM3050S at -20°C, and mounted on Superfrost<sup>™</sup> Plus glass slides (Thermo Scientific, USA). The aforementioned procedures were performed by our collaborators at IMM.

Placental tissue was collected from a term pregnant woman following vaginal delivering by our collaborator Doutor Dusan Djokovic. Part of the tissue was immediately placed in RNAlater® Solution (Ambion, USA) for later RNA extraction and reverse transcription (see section 3.3.1). The remaining tissue was fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) solution at 4°C for one hour, cryoprotected in 15% sucrose, embedded in 7.5% gelatin, frozen in cooled isopentane (Merck, Germany) and stored at -80°C. These frozen samples were sectioned at 20µm in a cryostat Leica model CM3050S at -25°C and mounted on Superfrost<sup>™</sup> Plus glass slides (Thermo Scientific, USA).

### 3.2 Histology and plaque characterization

To assess the type of atherosclerotic lesion in each sample, histological classification by Hematoxylin–Eosin staining was performed as described by Stary and colleagues [31–33]. Hematoxylin stains nucleic acids in blue color, whereas eosin stains proteins from the cytoplasm and extracellular matrix in varying degrees of pink [80].

Following a standard protocol, sections of human carotid samples were air-dried for 30 min at room temperature (RT) and washed in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) for 10 min to remove OCT® compound. After this, two washes in PBS for five min were conducted, followed by one wash in distilled water for two min. Sections were stained with filtered 0.1% Mayers Hematoxylin (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) for 10 min, washed in running water to remove the excess, placed in distilled water for one min and in 70% ethanol (VWR chemicals, USA) for three min. Slides were then counterstained with 0,5% Eosin Y (Sigma-Aldrich, USA, 1.5g dissolved in 300ml of 95% ethanol) for five min, washed in running water once again to remove the excess and placed in distilled water for one min. Finally, slides were dehydrate by graded ethanol series (70%, 85%, 95%, 100% ethanol), one min each, xylol for five min and mounted in Entellan® mounting medium (Merck, Germany).

After Hematoxylin-Eosin staining, samples were observed under an Olympus BX51 microscope with Olympus 10X/0.30 NA and 40X/0.75 NA dry objectives, and imaged with Olympus DP21 photographic equipment (Olympus®, Japan). Each sample was characterized according to the American Heart Association (AHA) histological classification [31–33], and four groups of five samples each were established for further analysis: group 1 included type II and III, group 2 included the type IV, group 3 included the type V and group 4 included the type VI lesions.

### **3.3** Gene expression

### 3.3.1 RNA extraction and Complementary DNA (cDNA) synthesis

RNA from human carotid samples was supplied by our collaborators, having been extracted with RNeasy<sup>®</sup> Mini Kit (Qiagen, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. For the extraction of placental RNA, small tissue fragments were placed in two ml microcentrifuge tubes with a stainless steel bead and lysis buffer (buffer RLT, Qiagen, Germany) and DL-Dithiothreitol (DTT, Promega, USA). Tubes were placed in the TissueLyser II (Qiagen, Germany) twice for two minutes at 30 Hz. RNA was then extracted with RNeasy<sup>®</sup> Mini Kit (Qiagen, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. RNA quantification and quality were assessed using a NanoDrop<sup>™</sup> 2000c spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, USA). High RNA purity is indicated by a ratio of absorbance at 260 nm vs. 280 nm ~2.0, which was the case for all samples tested.

400 ng of RNA of each sample were reverse transcribed into complementary DNA (cDNA) using SuperScript® III First-Strand Synthesis SuperMix kit for real time-quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR; Invitrogen, USA) according to manufacturer's instructions. The reverse transcription reactions (total volume of 30  $\mu$ l) were performed in a thermal cycler (VWR, USA) using the following protocol: 25°C for 10 min, 50°C for 30 min, at 80°C for five min and 4°C for five min. After adding 1  $\mu$ l of *E. coli* RNase H, reverse transcription reactions were incubated at 37°C for 20 min. The resulting cDNA samples were then either used straightway for RT-qPCR or stored at -20°C for later analysis.

### 3.3.2 Real time-quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR)

The expression of 18 genes associated with the Notch signaling pathway and with the inflammatory response (*ANG1, ANG2, \alpha-SMA, CALP, CD31, CD34, CD68, DLL4, EPHB2, HEY1, HEY2, JAG1, NOTCH1, PDGFR\beta, TIE2, VEGF, VEGFR1, VEGFR2) was analyzed by RT-qPCR in atherosclerotic plaques samples. Two negative controls were performed: a "no template control" without cDNA in the reaction mixture, and a "no amplification control", a minus-reverse transcriptase reverse control which is a mock reverse transcription containing all the RT reagents, except the reverse transcriptase. Placental samples were used for positive control of <i>DLL4* expression.

Primers were either designed using qPrimerDepot [81], Probefinder, or selected from the literature [82,83] (Annex IV). All RT-qPCR reaction mixtures were made in duplicate to a final volume of 12.5µl, using 0.54 µl of cDNA solution. RT-qPCR reactions were performed in 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems<sup>™</sup>, USA), with the DyNAmo Flash SYBR Green qPCR Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. SYBR Green I is specific for double-stranded DNA and becomes fluorescent when bound to the amplified double-stranded PCR product [84]. Briefly, reactions started with a hot-start, followed by an initial denaturation to activate the DNA polymerase, and cycles of denaturation, annealing and extension. Different numbers of cycles and annealing and extension periods were tested in order to improve the specificity of the amplified products (Table 3.1). For all reactions, the housekeeping gene ribosomal RNA 18S (rRNA18S) was used as an internal control of expression, and the presence of a single amplification product was evaluated.

Table 3.1. RT-qPCR reaction conditions.							
Hot-start	Initial	Denaturation	Annealing and	Melting curve			
	denaturation		extension				
50°C	95°C	95°C	66°C, 68°C or 70°C	50-95°C			
2 min	7 min	10 sec	30 sec or 45 sec	1°C/Step			
		48 or 5	50 cycles				

### **3.3.3** Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

PCR was performed in a thermal cycler (VWR, USA), with DreamTaq<sup>TM</sup> DNA Polymerase (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA). PCR mix was prepared with 2  $\mu$ l cDNA solution, 10X DreamTaq Buffer (containing 20 mm MgCl<sub>2</sub>), 5  $\mu$ l of deoxyribonucleoside triphosphate (dNTP) mix (with 2mM each), 1.0  $\mu$ M of each primer, and 0.2  $\mu$ l of DreamTaq DNA Polymerase, in a final reaction volume of 25  $\mu$ l. Briefly, reactions started with an initial denaturation step at 95°C for three min, followed by 40 cycles of denaturation at 95° for 30 sec, annealing at 66°C for 30 sec, and extension at 72°C for one minute. In the end, a final extension step occurred at 72°C for 5 minutes.

PCR reactions were run on a 2% agarose gel for electrophoresis (Hi Res Standard Agarose, GTC Bioproducts, UK) prepared in 1X TAE with 2.5 ng/100 ml of GreenSafe Premium (NZYTech, Portugal). DNA was visualized under UV light on a ChemiDoc<sup>™</sup> XRS<sup>+</sup> System with Image Lab<sup>™</sup> Software (BioRad, USA). NZYDNA ladder VI (NZYTech, Portugal) was used as a molecular weight marker.

### 3.4 Immunofluorescence

Sections of carotid and placental samples were air-dried for 30 min and washed in PBS at 37°C for 10-15 min to remove OCT® (carotid samples) or the gelatin (placental samples), followed by two washes at RT in PBS for five min and a post-fixation step in 4% PFA in PBS at 4°C for five min. For tissue permeabilization, slides were washed twice in PBS for five min each, incubated in methanol AnalaR NORMAPUR® (VWR chemicals, USA) with 3% hydrogen peroxide (Scharlab, Spain) for 30 min in the dark at RT, and washed two times in PBS for five min each. For cellular permeabilization, two 10 min washes in 0.1% PBS Triton® X-100 (Applichem, Germany) were performed. In order to reduce fixative-induced fluorescence, slides were washed six times for 10 min each in Sodium Borohydride ReagentPlus® (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) (1mg/ml) on ice. To prevent unspecific binding of the antibodies to non-target structures and minimize false-positive signals, slides were incubated for one hour in a dark wet chamber at RT with blocking solution: 5% Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) in PBSW (PBS with 0,1% Tween® 20; VWR chemicals, USA).

Subsequently, slides were incubated for one hour with primary antibodies diluted in blocking solution (Table 3.2) in a dark wet chamber at RT. After incubation, slides were washed in PBSW five times for 10 min, and incubated with secondary antibodies diluted at 1:300 in blocking solution (Table 3.2). After one hour of incubation in wet chamber at RT, slides were washed in the dark twice in PBSW and once with PBS (10 min each). Nuclei were counterstained with DAPI® (4', 6'-diamidino-2-phenylindole, dihydrochloride, Sigma-Aldrich, USA). For this, slides were incubated with a 0.15% DAPI® solution and washed twice in PBS. These five-min incubations were performed in the dark. To reduce tissue natural autofluorescence slides were incubated with 0.3% Sudan Black B (Merck, Germany) in 70% EtOH (VWR chemicals, USA) for 10 min in the dark. Slides were then washed eight times in PBS. Finally, slides were mounted with Mowiol® (Calbiochem, USA), sealed with nail polish and stored at 4°C (protected from light) until further examination.

Fluorescent immunostained samples were examined under a Leica DMR fluorescence microscope with Leica PL Fluotar 10x, HC PL Fluotar 20X and HCX PL Fluotar 40X/0.75 NA dry objectives (Leica, Heidelberg, Germany) available at *Faculdade de Medicina Veterinária (FMV)*. Images were processed using Adobe Photoshop. For microvascular density quantification, the percentage of PECAM fluorescence area was averaged from the analysis of 6-18 plaque image fields (20X magnification) per group. Pixel intensity measurements were determined by the percentage of black pixels per field (after transforming the RGB images into binary files) using NIH ImageJ 1.50b program (NIH, Bethesda, USA, [85]).

Autofluorescence is largely due to natural tissue fluorescence or to fixative-induced fluorescence [86,87]. The natural autofluorescence found in the atherosclerotic plaque samples results mainly from the presence of elastin and collagen in blood vessel walls, and lipofuscin in red blood cells [87]. In order to reduce tissue autofluorescence, five different protocols were tested before the election of the one described above.

**Protocol 1**: Blocking for one hour at RT with 5% BSA + 0.3M Glycine in PBSW, before primary antibody incubation (adapted from [87])

**Protocol 2**: 0.25% ammonia (Merck, Germany) in 70% ethanol (VWR chemicals, USA), one hour at RT, followed by three washes of five minutes each in PBS solution with 0.02% Tween® 20, before primary antibody incubation [86].

**Protocol 3**: 0.1% Sudan Black B (Merck, Germany) in 70% ethanol (VWR chemicals, USA) for 20 min at RT and in a dark chamber, followed by three washes in PBSW for five min, after secondary antibody incubation [86].

**Protocol 4**: 1 mg/ml solution of Sodium Borohydride ReagentPlus® (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) in PBS (prepared on ice immediately before use) six times for 10 min each, before blocking [87,88].

Table 3.2. Antibodies use	d in	immunofluorescence assay.
---------------------------	------	---------------------------

Primary Antibodies	Dilution	Staining	Secondary Antibodies	Dilution
Mouse anti-human CD31 antibody (Dako, USA)	1:40	Fully differentiated vascular endothelial cells [38]	Alexa Fluor® 594 Goat anti-mouse (Thermo Scientific, USA)	1:300
Goat anti-human DLL4 (Dako, USA)	1:10	DLL4	Alexa Fluor® 594 Chicken anti-goat (Thermo Scientific, USA)	1:300
Mouse anti-human CD34 (Dako, USA)	1:50	Both progenitor and mature endothelial cells [38]	Alexa Fluor® 488 Donkey anti-mouse (Thermo Scientific, USA)	1:300
Rabbit anti-human NG2 (Dako, USA)	1:200	Pericytes [34,45]	Alexa Fluor® 488 Goat anti-rabbit (Thermo Scientific, USA)	1:300
Rabbit anti-human NOTCH1 (Abcam, UK)	1:50	Endothelial cells [89]	Alexa Fluor® 488 Goat anti-rabbit (Thermo Scientific, USA)	1:300

## 3.5 Statistical analysis

Data processing was carried out using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences software, version 22.0 (SPSS v 22.0; Chicago, IL). Statistical analyses were performed using Mann-Whitney-Wilcoxon test. All results are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM, P-values < 0.05 were considered significant (indicated in the figures with \*).

### **4 RESULTS**

### 4.1 Classification of atherosclerotic lesions

Histological specimens of carotid samples were analyzed on the basis of the classification scheme of the AHA previously described (Fig. 1.3). From the 122 samples, two samples were classified as lesion type II, four as type III, five as type IV, 21 as type V and 90 as type VI. Type I, VII and VIII lesions were not found. In order to have equal number of sample (n=5) in each group reflecting the progression of the disease, four groups were established: group 1 with type II and type III lesions, group 2 with type IV lesions, group 3 with type V lesions, and group 4 with type VI lesions. Some features of atherosclerotic plaques of type III and VI lesions are shown in Figure 4.1, according to previous observations [90].

All the images shown in Figures 4.6, 4.8-4.10 were taken in regions similar to Fig. 4.1H.



**Figure 4.1. A.** Atherosclerotic plaques removed from carotid artery at 95% stenosis; **B.** Section of human carotid sample; **C-H**. Hematoxilin and Eosin staining of atherosclerotic plaques of type VI (**C-F**) and type III (**G,H**). Th. Thrombus; **INF**. Inflammatory infiltrate; **CC**. Cholesterol crystals; **PH**. Plaque hemorrhage; **L**. extracellular lipids; **V**. Vessels. Arrow in **D** - plaque fissure.

### 4.2 Immunofluorescence method optimization

### 4.2.1 Protocol testing to reduce autofluorescence

In order to optimize the immunofluorescence protocol (adapted from [91]) for human atherosclerotic tissue sections, slides from samples not included in the four experimental groups were used and tested. The presence of nonspecific fluorescent signal both in negative control slides incubated only with secondary antibody and in unstained slides (Figure 4.2) lead us to test different protocols known to eliminate or minimize tissue autofluorescence (Figure 4.3).



Figure 4.2. Autofluorescence of unstained atheroma sections (white arrowhead) in both red and green channels. Nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue).

Protocol 1 (blocking with 5% BSA + 0.3M Glycine in PBSW) and protocol 2 (ammoniaethanol) did not significantly decrease autofluorescence (Fig. 4.3B and C). In addition, using protocol 3 (Sudan Black) and protocol 4 (sodium borohydride), autofluorescence was reduced but was still visible (Fig. 4.3D and E).



**Figure 4.3.** Atheroma tissue sections subject to different protocols to remove autofluorescence. **A.** Unstained section; **B.** Blocking with 5% BSA + 0.3M Glycine in PBSW (Protocol 1); **C.** Ammonia-ethanol (Protocol 2); **D.** Sudan Black (Protocol 3); **E.** Sodium borohydride (Protocol 4). Arrowhead - autofluorescence regions. Nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue).

Since the two later procedures lead to better results, a protocol that included both steps was tested. The results showed an almost complete absence of tissue autofluorescence (Figure 4.4). Therefore, our final immunofluorescence protocol included incubation with Sudan Black and washes with sodium borohydride.



**Figure 4.4.** Immunofluorescence staining for PECAM/CD31 (red; endothelial cells) in atheroma sections using protocols 3 and 4. Autofluorescence (white arrowhead) was almost completely absent. Nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue).

### 4.2.2 **Positive control for expression analysis (human placenta)**

Placental tissue sections were used as positive controls for the detection of our epitopes of interest. Immunofluorescence tests were performed in order to evaluate whether a particular primary antibody was correctly labeling the expected cells as well as for determining the optimal antibody concentration. Double staining for DLL4 with CD34 (Figure 4.5A), NG2 (Fig.4.5B) or NOTCH1 (Fig.4.5C) were tested. As expected, the ligand DLL4 and the receptor NOTCH1 are detected in the placenta endothelial cells, among other cell types [92].



**Figure 4.5.** Immunofluorescent staining of placental tissue sections. **A**. DLL4 (red) and CD34 (green); **B**. DLL4 (red) and NG2 (green); **C**. DLL4 (red) and NOTCH1 (green). CD34 and Notch 1 are present in endothelial cells, NG2 in pericytes, and CD68 in macrophages and foam cells. Nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue).

### 4.3 Expression analysis of atheroma sections by immunofluorescence

### 4.3.1 Microvessel density evaluation

To characterize and quantify the microvascular network in human lesions, the expression of the vascular marker PECAM was analyzed [34]. In sections from all lesion stages analyzed, PECAM expression was detected in endothelial cells of the plaque microvasculature (Figure 4.6). Microvessel density (MVD) was defined as the percentage of PECAM-positive area per image field (see Materials and Methods section 3.4). Groups 2, 3 and 4 showed higher MVD when compared to group 1 (Figure 4.7; group  $1=1.7\%\pm1.2$ , group  $2=2.5\%\pm1$ , group  $3=2.3\%\pm1.8$ , group  $4=2.5\%\pm1.4$ ;). Therefore, it is possible to conclude that lesions from more advanced stages of the disease have higher neovascularization, as previously shown [23,93,94].



Figure 4.6. Immunostaining for the vascular marker PECAM (green) in atherosclerotic plaque sections. Images are representative of each group of lesion stages. Nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue).



**Figure 4.7.** Microvessel density (MVD) in each group of lesion stages. MVD was higher in groups 2, 3 and 4 when compared to group 1. For the quantification, the percentage of PECAM area *per* plaque image field (20x magnification) was analyzed in sections from each group of lesions.

### 4.3.2 Pericyte coverage

In order to evaluate the vascular maturity of atherosclerotic lesions, pericyte coverage of microvessels was analyzed in sections immunolabeled for PECAM (endothelial marker) and NG2 (pericyte marker) [76]. As shown in Figure 4.8, group 1 microvessels exhibited a high maturation state, as indicated by the abundance of pericyte present, whereas group 4 showed vessel immaturity with complete absence of NG2 labeling. Previous studies have shown that microvessels in human coronary atherosclerotic samples have incomplete mural cell coverage [95,96], but none of them examined different stages of lesion progression.



**Figure 4.8.** Immunostaining of atherosclerotic plaque sections labeled for PECAM (red) and NG2 (green) to evaluate pericyte coverage. Images are representative of each group of lesion stages. Nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue).

### 4.3.3 DLL4/NOTCH expression

In order to study the expression of DLL4/Notch signaling components in human atherosclerotic lesions, immunolabeling of DLL4 and NOTCH1 was analyzed in atheroma sections. DLL4 expression was detected in low levels in group 1 lesions and at higher levels in those of groups 2, 3 and 4 (Figure 4.9). NOTCH1 expression was observed to be relatively uniform in all groups (representative image in Figure 4.10). These observations indicate that the number of ECs expressing the ligand DLL4 increases with the angiogenesis observed during disease progression, and that the expression of the receptor NOTCH1 is also detected in ECs of immature microvessels of atheroma lesions.



**Figure 4.9**. Immunostaining for DLL4 (green) in sections from atherosclerotic plaques of each group. Images are representative of each group of lesions stages. Nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue).



Figure 4.10. Immunostaining of twin sections from an atherosclerotic plaque of group 3, marked for PECAM (A), DLL4 (B, red), CD34 (B, green) and NOTCH1 (C). Nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue).

### 4.4 RT-qPCR protocol optimization

As complement to the immunolabeling results, we aimed at analyzing the mRNA expression levels of Dll4/Notch pathway components and vessel maturation markers in human atherosclerotic plaques by semi-quantitative real time polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR). In particular, we addressed the expression of 18 genes involved in the Notch signalling pathway and inflammatory response *DLL4, JAG1, NOTCH1, HEY1* and *HEY2* (ligands, receptor and target genes of the NOTCH signaling pathway [68]), *VEGF, VEGFR1* and *VEGFR2* (components of the VEGF signaling pathway [55]), *ANG1, ANG2* and *TIE2* (components of the angiopoietin signaling pathway [59]), PDGFRβ (receptor of the PDGF signaling pathway [62]), *CD31* (fully differentiated vascular ECs [38]) and *CD34* (both progenitor and mature ECs [38]),  $\alpha$ -SMA and *CALP* (perivascular cells [34,44]), and *CD68* (macrophages and foam cells [22]), and the housekeeping gene *18S* [97].

In the first RT-qPCR assays, the amplification of some of the genes (*VEGF*, *HEY2*, *VEGFR2*, *ANG1*, *ANG2* and *TIE2*) showed normal fluorescence signal and melting curves (only one peak; Figure 4.11), whereas the reaction for other genes (*18S*, *PECAM*, *DLL4*,  $\alpha$ -*SMA*, *NOTCH1*, *JAG1*, *VEGFR2*, *CALPONIN*, *EPHB2*, *HEY1*, *PDGFRβ*, *CD34* and *CD68*) displayed melting curves that indicate the presence of nonspecific products and primer-dimers (more than one peak; Figure 4.12).

The total fluorescence generated by SYBR Green binding to double-stranded DNA can be plotted in real time as a function of temperature. The change in fluorescence accompanies the melting of double-stranded PCR products. The melting temperature  $(T_m)$  of each product is defined as the temperature at which the corresponding peak maximum occurs, and then a sharp decrease in SYBR Green fluorescence is observed as the product undergoes denaturation. This analysis can confirm the specificity of the primers as well as reveal the presence of primer-dimers. Because of their small size, primer-dimers usually melt at lower temperatures than the desired product. Furthermore, nonspecific amplification may result in PCR products that melt at temperatures above or below the desire product [98].

RESULTS



**Figure 4.11.** RT-qPCR melting curves for the amplification of *VEGF*, *HEY2*, *VEGFR2*, *ANG1*, *ANG2* and *TIE2* showing specific product peaks.



**Figure 4.12.** RT-qPCR melting curves for the amplification of *PECAM*, *DLL4*,  $\alpha$ -*SMA*, *NOTCH1*, *JAG1* (A), *VEGFR2*, *CALPONIN*, *EPHB2* (B), *HEY1*, *PDGFR* $\beta$ , *CD34* and *CD68* showing primer-dimers or nonspecific product peaks. All the graphs show the melting curve for the amplification of the housekeeping gene 18S for comparison. Asterisk (B) – Primer-dimer; arrow (C) – nonspecific product peak.

Since one of the main goals of the project was to analyze the expression of *DLL4*, an attempt has been made to optimize the RT-qPCR conditions for the amplification of this gene product (and for the housekeeping gene *18S*), prior to the assay optimization for all the other genes. The RT-qPCR

melting curve for *DLL4* amplification indicated the presence of primer-dimer and/or nonspecific products (Fig. 4.12A; light blue), which may be due to several different factors [98]. Therefore, the following conditions were tested: (i) use new and fresh reagents to eliminate the possibility of contamination with human DNA, (ii) test two other pairs of primers for *DLL4* amplification (DLL4new and DLL4 160bp; Figure 4.13A), (iii) increase template concentration, (iv) optimize primer concentration, (v) increase the annealing temperature and decrease the number of cycles. Several tests with both placental and atheroma cDNA were conducted.

In order to investigate these potential causes for the RT-qPCR results, placenta and atheroma cDNA samples were tested by PCR using the different Dll4 primers (Fig. 4.13). Since the PCR reactions using Dll4 and Dll4new primers were not successful, only the gel electrophoresis of the PCR using Dll4 160bp primers is shown (Fig. 4.13B). The presence of primer-dimers was identified in the PCR reactions of both placenta and atheroma cDNA samples. In addition to the expected 160bp product, a genomic DNA product (1270bp) was detected in placenta PCR reactions. However, no *DLL4* amplification products were observed in atheroma reactions, suggesting that the amount of *DLL4* cDNA may be too low in these atheroma samples.



**Figure 4.13. A.** Schematic representation of human DLL4 cDNA and genomic structure, indicating the localization of the three primer pairs tested in RT-qPCR and PCR (Dll4, Dll4new and Dll4 160bp). **B.** Gel electrophoresis of PCR products for DLL4 using the Dll4 160bp primers. The expected cDNA amplification product is detected in placenta samples (lanes 1 and 2; 160 bp; white arrow), but not in atheroma samples (lanes 3 and 4). A genomic DLL4 fragment was also amplified in the placenta samples (1270bp; black arrow). Possible primer-dimer complexes are observed in all PCR reactions (arrowhead). M – DNA Ladder (50-1500 bp); lane 5 – no template control.

Even though several protocol modifications for minimizing primer-dimer and nonspecific product amplification were tested (data not shown), the RT-qPCR melting curves for *DLL4* amplification could not be improved. These poor results could be due to low mRNA/cDNA concentration, poor primer design and/or the presence of genomic DNA in the cDNA samples. Unfortunately, because of time and resources restrains, the gene expression analysis by RT-qPCR of the genes involved in the Notch signalling pathway and inflammatory response in human atherosclerotic plaques could not be optimized and concluded.

### **5 DISCUSSION**

Several studies have implicated atheroma microvessels (or *vasa vasorum*) in the regulation of atherosclerotic plaque growth and stability [22,23,46,94,99,100]. In line with this evidence, induction of atheroma *vasa vasorum* maturation has recently been proposed as a therapeutic strategy to prevent intraplaque hemorrhage and restrict lesion growth. Our team and others have implicated the Dll4/Notch signaling pathway in the regulation of microvessel maturation, which introduces Dll4 as a potential target for atherosclerosis treatment. The aim of this study was to analyze the expression patterns of DLL4 and other components of the NOTCH signaling pathway in human atherosclerotic lesions, and to correlate these patterns with the level of *vasa vasorum* maturation and phase of lesion progression.

In order to achieve our goal, we aimed at evaluating atheroma structure and type of atherosclerotic lesion (progression stage), as well as analyzing the expression of DLL4/Notch pathway components in human carotid atheroma samples, both by immunolabeling and by real time polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR). We started by optimizing the immunofluorescence protocol for human atherosclerotic tissue sections. By observing unlabeled sections, we were able to detect tissue autofluorescence, which has also been documented by other studies (e.g., [101]). Autofluorescence is mainly due to natural tissue fluorescence or to fixative-induced fluorescence (aldehyde fixatives) [86,87]. The natural autofluorescence found in atherosclerotic plaque samples results mainly from the presence of elastin and collagen in blood vessel walls, and lipofuscin in red blood cells [87]. To minimize this issue, we tested different protocols using sections from samples not included in the experimental groups. We concluded that a protocol comprising incubation with Sudan Black and washes with sodium borohydride lead to a significant reduction of autofluorescence without decreasing the ability to visualize specific labeling. Previous studies demonstrated that sodium borohydride is an aldehyde blocker, decreasing fixative-induced fluorescence [87]. In turn, Sudan Black is thought to act by obscuring lipofuscin [86,102]. Using these two reagents to minimize autofluorescence, we were able to proceed with the experimental immunolabeling assays.

To evaluate atheroma structure and stage of the atherosclerotic lesions, we classified our samples according to the AHA consensus [31–33] and sorted them into four groups that reflect different phases of lesion progression. Some features documented in previous studies [22,23,94,103] were identified in advanced lesions, such as the presence of microvessels, thrombus, fissures and hematomas. Samples from each group were then used to investigate the expression levels of DLL4/Notch components and microvessel maturation markers.

In order characterize and quantify the neovascular network of human atheroma lesions, visualization of newly formed microvessels in human plaque sections was achieved through immunofluorescence staining of histological sections with the commonly used vascular marker PECAM [34]. Regarding the results, it was shown that microvessels are already detected in early lesions, and their density is higher in more advanced lesions, which in accordance with other studies [23,93,94]. This process of angiogenesis occurs as a primary response to hypoxia of the inner layers of the vascular wall, as a consequence of *tunica intima* hyperplasia[64].

In order to evaluate intraplaque neovessels maturation, pericyte coverage of microvessels was analyzed. It was found that the neovascular network of human advanced lesions has less pericyte coverage than early lesions. Previous studies have shown that microvessels in human coronary

#### DISCUSSION

atherosclerotic samples have incomplete mural cell coverage [95,96], but none of them examined different stages of lesion progression. Microvessel leakage is determined by microvessel structure and endothelial integrity [95]. Newly formed blood vessels with less pericyte coverage are immature, fragile, leaky and lead to local extravasation of plasma proteins, erythrocytes (hemorrhage) and inflammatory cells, further contributing to plaque progression [22,50]. Our results show that the microvessels of advanced lesions are indeed more immature than those of early-stage lesions, in agreement with a higher risk for plaque hemorrhage and rupture in late stages of lesion progression.

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study that analyzes the expression of DLL4/NOTCH1 in *vasa vasorum* of human atherosclerotic lesions in relation to lesion progression. The results showed that DLL4 is expressed in *vasa vasorum* ECs of atherosclerotic lesions, being present in low levels in early lesions and in higher levels in more advanced plaques. Although it did not present significant correlation with lesion progression, it was also possible to detect the presence of NOTCH1 receptor in ECs of immature microvessels in advanced lesions. Our observations indicate that the number of endothelial tip cells expressing the ligand DLL4 increases as immature microvessels proliferate with the progression of the disease, and that these cells also express the NOTCH1 receptor, suggesting that the Notch pathway is activated in ECs of atherosclerotic lesions. In concordance, previous studies in mice [104,105] and also in human [105] demonstrated that Notch1 and DLL4 expression is significantly higher in atherosclerotic lesions when compared to non-atherosclerotic sites.

The RT-qPCR analysis would provide information on the levels of the Notch, VEGF and angiopoietin signaling pathways, as well as other components involved in angiogenesis, inflammation and vessel maturation, in each phase of lesion progression. In our RT-qPCR experiments, nonspecific product amplification was observed, even when using several protocol modifications for minimizing primer-dimer and nonspecific product amplification. This was one of the major limitations of our work. The RNA samples from human carotid plaques supplied by our collaborators were not subject to DNAse treatment to remove genomic DNA contamination. The poor results obtaind might also have been due to low mRNA/cDNA concentration and/or to poor primer design. Unfortunately, because of time and resources restrains, the gene expression analysis of human atherosclerotic plaques by RT-qPCR could not be optimized and completed. To try to overcome this limitation, we would have ordered and used new primers for the amplification of housekeeping and experimental genes. In addition, the use of DNAse-treated RNA samples, as well as higher RNA concentrations would have been taken into account.

In conclusion, this study demonstrated that more advanced lesions present more microvessels and these have less pericyte coverage. The stabilization or "normalization" of the immature microvasculature of atherosclerotic lesions has been proposed as an approach to prevent intraplaque hemorrhage and restrict lesion growth [66,46]. In addition, normalized vessels would allow for better perfusion of therapeutic agents into the plaque [65]. Dll4 has been described as the major inducer of Notch activation in ECs [106], being a critical regulator of angiogenesis and vessel maturation [73,106]. Our studies demonstrated that DLL4 and NOTCH proteins are expressed in human plaque *vasa vasorum*. These observations introduce the Dll4/Notch signaling pathway as a potential regulator of vasa vasorum maturation in atherosclerotic lesions. Taken together, our research contributed to increase the level of knowledge regarding the molecular regulators of angiogenesis in human atherosclerotic lesions, clarify the relation between *vasa vasorum* maturation and plaque progression, and provide support to the potential therapeutic application of Dll4/Notch signaling modulators for the stabilization of atherosclerotic lesions.

### **6 REFERENCES**

- [1] B. Boudi, C. Ahsan H, Noncoronary Atherosclerosis Overview of Atherosclerosis, Medscape. (2014). http://emedicine.medscape.com/article/1950759-overview (accessed October 11, 2015).
- [2] V.M. Subbotin, Neovascularization of coronary tunica intima (DIT) is the cause of coronary atherosclerosis. Lipoproteins invade coronary intima via neovascularization from adventitial vasa vasorum, but not from the arterial lumen: a hypothesis, Theor. Biol. Med. Model. 9 (2012) 11.
- [3] S. Carr, A. Farb, W.H. Pearce, R. Virmani, J.S.T. Yao, Atherosclerotic plaque rupture in symptomatic carotid artery stenosis, J. Vasc. Surg. 23 (1996) 755–766.
- [4] W.H. Organization, W.H. Federation, W.S. Organization, Global atlas on cardiovascular disease prevention and control, World Health Organization in collaboration with the World Heart Federation and the World Stroke Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, 2011.
- [5] K. Pesek, T. Pesek, S. Roginic, The Importance of Risk Factors Analysis in the Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease (CVD), InTech, Cardiology Clinic Zabok Croatia, 2011. http://www.intechopen.com/books/atherosclerotic- cardiovascular-disease/the-importance-ofrisk-factors-analysis-in-the-prevention-of-cardiovascular-disease- cvd-.
- [6] A. Vink, A.H. Schoneveld, W. Richard, D.P. V De Kleijn, E. Falk, C. Borst, G. Pasterkamp, Plaque burden, arterial remodeling and plaque vulnerability: Determined by systemic factors?, J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 38 (2001) 718–723.
- [7] H.C. Stary, D. Blankenhorn, a B. Chandler, S. Glagov, W. Insull, M. Richardson, M.E. Rosenfeld, S. Schaffer, C.J. Schwartz, W.D. Wagner, A Definition of the Intima of Human Arteries and of Its Atherosclerosis-Prone Regions, Circulation. 85 (1992) 391–405.
- [8] P. Libby, P.M. Ridker, Inflammation and atherosclerosis: Role of C-reactive protein in risk assessment, Am. J. Med. 116 (2004) 9–16.
- [9] G.W. Sullivan, I.J. Sarembock, J. Linden, The role of inflammation in vascular diseases, J. Leukoc. Biol. 67 (2000) 591–602.
- [10] B. Waller, C. Orr, J. Slack, C. Pinkerton, J. Van Tassel, T. Peters, Anatomy, Histology, and Pathology of Coronary Arteries: A Review Relevant to New Interventional and Imaging Techniques-Part I, Cardiol. Clin. 457 (1992) 451–457.
- [11] Y. Nakashima, Y.X. Chen, N. Kinukawa, K. Sueishi, Distributions of diffuse intimal thickening in human arteries: Preferential expression in atherosclerosis-prone arteries from an early age, Virchows Arch. 441 (2002) 279–288.
- [12] P. Libby, Inflammation in atherosclerosis, Nature. 420 (2002) 868–874.
- [13] A. Lusis, Atherosclerosis, Nature. 407 (2000) 233–241.
- [14] H. Wolinsky, S. Glagov, Nature of species differences in the medial distribution of aortic vasa vasorum in mammals, Circ. Res. 20 (1967) 409–421.

- [15] C. Barger, R. Beeuwkes, L. Lewis, K. Silverman, Hypothesis: vasa vasorum and neovascularization of human coronary arteries — A Possible Role in the Pathophysiology of Atherosclerosis, N. Engl. J. Med. 310 (1984) 175–177.
- [16] D.D. Heistad, M.L. Marcus, G.E. Larsen, M.L. Armstrong, Role of vasa vasorum in nourishment of the aortic wall, Am J Physiol Hear. Circ Physiol. 240 (1981) H781–787. http://ajpheart.physiology.org/content/240/5/H781 (accessed January 7, 2016).
- [17] V.M. Subbotin, Excessive intimal hyperplasia in human coronary arteries before intimal lipid depositions is the initiation of coronary atherosclerosis and constitutes a therapeutic target, Drug Discov. Today. 00 (2016) 1–18.
- [18] I. Tabas, K.J. Williams, J. Borén, Subendothelial lipoprotein retention as the initiating process in atherosclerosis: Update and therapeutic implications, Circulation. 116 (2007) 1832–1844.
- [19] T. Collins, M.I. Cybulsky, NF-κB: Pivotal mediator or innocent bystander in atherogenesis?, J. Clin. Invest. 107 (2001) 255–264.
- [20] H. Li, M.I. Cybulsky, M. a Gimbrone, P. Libby, An atherogenic diet rapidly induces VCAM-1, a cytokine-regulatable mononuclear leukocyte adhesion molecule, in rabbit aortic endothelium, Arterioscler. Thromb. 13 (1993) 197–204.
- [21] Y. Nakashima, H. Fujii, S. Sumiyoshi, T.N. Wight, K. Sueishi, Early human atherosclerosis: Accumulation of lipid and proteoglycans in intimal thickenings followed by macrophage infiltration, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 27 (2007) 1159–1165.
- [22] F.D. Kolodgie, H.K. Gold, A.P. Burke, D.R. Fowler, H.S. Kruth, D.K. Weber, A. Farb, L.J. Guerrero, M. Hayase, R. Kutys, J. Narula, A. V Finn, R. Virmani, Intraplaque hemorrhage and progression of coronary atheroma, N. Engl. J. Med. 349 (2003) 2316–2325.
- [23] P.R. Moreno, K.R. Purushothaman, V. Fuster, D. Echeverri, H. Truszczynska, S.K. Sharma, J.J. Badimon, W.N. O'Connor, Plaque neovascularization is increased in ruptured atherosclerotic lesions of human aorta: Implications for plaque vulnerability, Circulation. 110 (2004) 2032–2038.
- [24] X. Zhang, X. Feng, W. Cai, T. Liu, Z. Liang, Y. Sun, C. Yan, Y. Han, Chemokine CX3CL1 and its receptor CX3CR1 are associated with human atherosclerotic lesion volnerability, Thromb. Res. 135 (2015) 1147–1153.
- [25] W.H. Lee, Y.H. Ko, D.I. Kim, B.B. Lee, J.E. Park, Prevalence of foam cells and helper-T cells in atherosclerotic plaques of Korean patients with carotid atheroma., Korean J. Intern. Med. 15 (2000) 117–21.
- [26] F.G.P. Welt, D.I. Simon, Atherosclerosis and Plaque Rupture, 63 (2001) 56–63.
- [27] R. Virmani, F.D. Kolodgie, a P. Burke, A. Farb, S.M. Schwartz, Lessons from sudden coronary death: a comprehensive morphological classification scheme for atherosclerotic lesions, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 20 (2000) 1262–1275.
- [28] P. Libby, The molecular mechanisms of the thrombotic complications of atherosclerosis, J. Intern. Med. 263 (2008) 517–527.
- [29] R. Ross, Atherosclerosis An Inflammatory Disease, N. Engl. J. Med. 340 (1999) 115–126.

- [30] E.A. Wang Y, Qiu J, Luo S, High shear stress induces atherosclerotic vulnerable plaque formation through angiogenesis, Regen Biomater. 3 (2016) 257–67.
- [31] H.C. Stary, a B. Chandler, R.E. Dinsmore, V. Fuster, S. Glagov, W.I. Jr, M.E. Rosenfeld, C.J. Schwartz, W.D. Wagner, R.W. Wissler, N. Section, A Definition of Advanced Types of Atherosclerotic Lesions and a Histological Classification of Atherosclerosis, Circulation. 92 (1995) 1355–1374.
- [32] H. Stary, A. Chandler, S. Glagov, G. Jr, W. Insull, M.J. Rosenfeld, S. Schaffer, C. Schwartz, W. Wagner, R. Wissler, A Definition of Initial, Fatty Streak, and Intermediate Lesions of Atherosclerosis, Circulation. 89 (1994) 2462–2478.
- [33] H.C. Stary, Natural history and histological classification of atherosclerotic lesions: an update, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 20 (2000) 1177–1178.
- [34] B. Van der Veken, G.R. De Meyer, W. Martinet, Intraplaque neovascularization as a novel therapeutic target in advanced atherosclerosis, Expert Opin. Ther. Targets. 8222 (2016) 14728222.2016.1186650.
- [35] A. Rodriguez, N. Singh, Atherosclerotic Disease of the Carotid Artery, Medscape. (2016). http://emedicine.medscape.com/article/463147-overview (accessed September 7, 2016).
- [36] J.C. Sluimer, M.J. Daemen, Novel concepts in atherogenesis: Angiogenesis and hypoxia in atherosclerosis, J. Pathol. 218 (2009) 7–29.
- [37] V. Fuster, P.R. Moreno, Z. a. Fayad, R. Corti, J.J. Badimon, Atherothrombosis and high-risk plaque: Part I: Evolving concepts, J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 46 (2005) 937–954.
- [38] F. Vasuri, S. Fittipaldi, M. Buzzi, A. Degiovanni, A. Stella, A. D'Errico-Grigioni, G. Pasquinelli, Nestin and WT1 expression in small-sized vasa vasorum from human normal arteries, Histol. Histopathol. 27 (2012) 1195–202.
- [39] A. Farb, A.P. Burke, A.L. Tang, Y. Liang, P. Mannan, J. Smialek, R. Virmani, Coronary Plaque Erosion Without Rupture Into a Lipid Core: A Frequent Cause of Coronary Thrombosis in Sudden Coronary Death, Circulation. 93 (1996) 1354–1363.
- [40] P. Carmeliet, Manipulating angiogenesis in medicine, J. Intern. Med. 255 (2004) 538–561.
- [41] G.D. Yancopoulos, S. Davis, N.W. Gale, J.S. Rudge, S.J. Wiegand, J. Holash, Vascularspecific growth factors and blood vessel formation, Nature. 407 (2000) 242–8.
- [42] W. Risau, Mechanisms of angiogenesis, Nature. 386 (1997) 671–674.
- [43] P. Carmeliet, R.K. Jain, Molecular Mechanisms and and clinical applications of angiogenesis, Nature. 473 (2011) 298–307.
- [44] X. Xian, J. Håkansson, A. Ståhlberg, P. Lindblom, C. Betsholtz, H. Gerhardt, H. Semb, Pericytes limit tumor cell metastasis, J. Clin. Invest. 116 (2006) 642–651.
- [45] U. Ozerdem, K. a. Grako, K. Dahlin-Huppe, E. Monosov, W.B. Stallcup, NG2 proteoglycan is expressed exclusively by mural cells during vascular morphogenesis, Dev. Dyn. 222 (2001) 218–227.

- [46] M.J. Mulligan-Kehoe, The vasa vasorum in diseased and nondiseased arteries, Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 298 (2010) H295–H305.
- [47] A.C. Langheinrich, A. Michniewicz, R.M. Bohle, E.L. Ritman, Vasa vasorum neovascularization and lesion distribution among different vascular beds in ApoE-/-/LDL-/double knockout mice, Atherosclerosis. 191 (2007) 73–81.
- [48] O.J. de Boer, a C. van der Wal, P. Teeling, a E. Becker, Leucocyte recruitment in rupture prone regions of lipid-rich plaques: a prominent role for neovascularization?, Cardiovasc Res. 41 (1999) 443–449.
- [49] N.W. Gale, G.D. Yancopoulos, Growth factors acting via endothelial cell-specific receptor tyrosine kinases: VEGFs, angiopoietins, and ephrins in vascular development, Genes Dev. 13 (1999) 1055–1066.
- [50] R. Virmani, F.D. Kolodgie, A.P. Burke, A. V. Finn, H.K. Gold, T.N. Tulenko, S.P. Wrenn, J. Narula, Atherosclerotic plaque progression and vulnerability to rupture: Angiogenesis as a source of intraplaque hemorrhage, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 25 (2005) 2054–2061.
- [51] J.B. Gomez, Camilo; Kubiniec, Richard; Wade, Immunohistochemistry of Carotid Plaque Neovascularization and Vasa Vasorum, J. Stroke Cerebrovasc. Dis. 2 (1992) 1–6.
- [52] Z.S. Galis, S.M. Lessner, Will the Real Plaque Vasculature Please Stand Up? Why We Need to Distinguish the Vasa Plaquorum From the Vasa Vasorum, Trends Cardiovasc. Med. 19 (2009) 87–94.
- [53] M. Potente, H. Gerhardt, P. Carmeliet, Basic and therapeutic aspects of angiogenesis, Cell. 146 (2011) 873–887.
- [54] P.C. Maisonpierre, C. Suri, P.F. Jones, S. Bartunkova, S.J. Wiegand, C. Radziejewski, D. Compton, J. Mcclain, T.H. Aldrich, N. Papadopoulos, T.J. Daly, S. Davis, T.N. Sato, G.D. Yancopoulos, Angiopoietin-2, a natural antagonist for Tie2 that disrupts in vivo angiogenesis, 277 (1997).
- [55] R. Blanco, H. Gerhardt, VEGF and Notch in tip and stalk cell selection, Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 3 (2013) 1–20.
- [56] F.L. Celletti, J.M. Waugh, P.G. Amabile, A. Brendolan, P.R. Hilfiker, M.D. Dake, Vascular endothelial growth factor enhances atherosclerotic plaque progression, Nat. Med. 7 (2001) 425–429.
- [57] M. Hellström, L.-K. Phng, J.J. Hofmann, E. Wallgard, L. Coultas, P. Lindblom, J. Alva, A.-K. Nilsson, L. Karlsson, N. Gaiano, K. Yoon, J. Rossant, M.L. Iruela-Arispe, M. Kalén, H. Gerhardt, C. Betsholtz, Dll4 signalling through Notch1 regulates formation of tip cells during angiogenesis., Nature. 445 (2007) 776–780.
- [58] S. Sawamiphak, S. Seidel, C.L. Essmann, G. a Wilkinson, M.E. Pitulescu, T. Acker, A. Acker-Palmer, Ephrin-B2 regulates VEGFR2 function in developmental and tumour angiogenesis, Nature. 465 (2010) 487–491.
- [59] T. Hawighorst, M. Skobe, M. Streit, Y.-K. Hong, P. Velasco, L.F. Brown, L. Riccardi, B. Lange-Asschenfeldt, M. Detmar, Activation of the tie2 receptor by angiopoietin-1 enhances

tumor vessel maturation and impairs squamous cell carcinoma growth, Am. J. Pathol. 160 (2002) 1381–92.

- [60] H.P. Hammes, Y. Feng, F. Pfister, M. Brownlee, Diabetic retinopathy: Targeting vasoregression, Diabetes. 60 (2011) 9–16.
- [61] J. Le Dall, B. Ho-Tin-Noé, L. Louedec, O. Meilhac, C. Roncal, P. Carmeliet, S. Germain, J.B. Michel, X. Houard, Immaturity of microvessels in haemorrhagic plaques is associated with proteolytic degradation of angiogenic factors, Cardiovasc. Res. 85 (2010) 184–193.
- [62] K. Gaengel, G. Genové, A. Armulik, C. Betsholtz, Endothelial-mural cell signaling in vascular development and angiogenesis, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 29 (2009) 630–638.
- [63] H. Liu, S. Kennard, B. Lilly, NOTCH3 expression is induced in mural cells through an autoregulatory loop that requires Endothelial-expressed JAGGED1, Circ. Res. 104 (2009) 466– 475.
- [64] R. Di Stefano, F. Felice, A. Balbarini, Angiogenesis as a risk factor for plaque vulnerability, Curr. Pharm. Des. 15 (2009) 1095–1106.
- [65] R. Jain, Rakesh; Finn, Aloke; Kolodgie, Frank; Gold, Herman; Virmani, Antiangiogenic therapy for normalization of atherosclerotic plaque vasculature: a potential strategy for plaque stabilization, Nat. Clin. Pract. Cardiovasc. Med. 4 (2007).
- [66] K.S. Moulton, K. Vakili, D. Zurakowski, M. Soliman, C. Butterfield, E. Sylvin, K.-M. Lo, S. Gillies, K. Javaherian, J. Folkman, Inhibition of plaque neovascularization reduces macrophage accumulation and progression of advanced atherosclerosis, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100 (2003) 4736–4741.
- [67] F. Winkler, S. V. Kozin, R.T. Tong, S.S. Chae, M.F. Booth, I. Garkavtsev, L. Xu, D.J. Hicklin, D. Fukumura, E. Di Tomaso, L.L. Munn, R.K. Jain, Kinetics of vascular normalization by VEGFR2 blockade governs brain tumor response to radiation: Role of oxygenation, angiopoietin-1, and matrix metalloproteinases, Cancer Cell. 6 (2004) 553–563.
- [68] T. Iso, Y. Hamamori, L. Kedes, Notch signaling in vascular development, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 23 (2003) 543–553.
- [69] H.M. Eilken, R.H. Adams, Dynamics of endothelial cell behavior in sprouting angiogenesis, Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 22 (2010) 617–625.
- [70] M. Yan, G.D. Plowman, Delta-like 4/notch signaling and its therapeutic implications, Clin. Cancer Res. 13 (2007) 7243–7246.
- [71] D. Fukuda, M. Aikawa, Expanding role of delta-like 4 mediated notch signaling in cardiovascular and metabolic diseases, Circ. J. 77 (2013) 2462–8.
- [72] T. Iso, L. Kedes, Y. Hamamori, HES and HERP families: Multiple effectors of the Notch signaling pathway, J. Cell. Physiol. 194 (2003) 237–255.
- [73] I. Noguera-Troise, C. Daly, N.J. Papadopoulos, S. Coetzee, P. Boland, N.W. Gale, H.C. Lin, G.D. Yancopoulos, G. Thurston, Blockade of Dll4 inhibits tumour growth by promoting nonproductive angiogenesis, Novartis Found. Symp. 283 (2007) 106–120; discussion 121–125, 238–241.

- [74] J. Ridgway, G. Zhang, Y. Wu, S. Stawicki, W.-C. Liang, Y. Chanthery, J. Kowalski, R.J. Watts, C. Callahan, I. Kasman, M. Singh, M. Chien, C. Tan, J.-A.S. Hongo, F. de Sauvage, G. Plowman, M. Yan, Inhibition of Dll4 signalling inhibits tumour growth by deregulating angiogenesis, Nature. 444 (2006) 1083–1087.
- [75] J.S. Scehnet, W. Jiang, S.R. Kumar, V. Krasnoperov, A. Trindade, R. Benedito, D. Djokovic, C. Borges, E.J. Ley, A. Duarte, P.S. Gill, Inhibition of Dll4-mediated signaling induces proliferation of immature vessels and results in poor tissue perfusion, Blood. 109 (2007) 4753– 4760.
- [76] D. Djokovic, A. Trindade, J. Gigante, M. Badenes, L. Silva, R. Liu, X. Li, M. Gong, V. Krasnoperov, P.S. Gill, A. Duarte, Combination of Dll4/Notch and Ephrin-B2/EphB4 targeted therapy is highly effective in disrupting tumor angiogenesis, BMC Cancer. 10 (2010) 641.
- [77] T. Hiyama, T. Tanaka, S. Endo, K. Komine, T. Kudo, H. Kobayashi, Y. Shiokawa, Angiogenesis in atherosclerotic plaque obtained from carotid endarterectomy: association between symptomatology and plaque morphology, Neurol. Med. Chir. (Tokyo). 50 (2010) 1056–1061.
- [78] World Medical Association, WMA Declar. Helsinki Ethical Princ. Med. Res. Involv. Hum. Subj. (2006) 1. http://www.wma.net/en/30publications/10policies/b3/#top (accessed September 28, 2016).
- [79] W.-X. Zhao, T.-T. Huang, M. Jiang, R. Feng, J.-H. Lin, Expression of Notch Family Proteins in Placentas From Patients With Early-Onset Severe Preeclampsia, Reprod. Sci. 21 (2014) 716–723.
- [80] A.H. Fischer, K.A. Jacobson, J. Rose, R. Zeller, A.H. Fischer, K.A. Jacobson, J. Rose, R. Zeller, Hematoxylin and Eosin Staining of Tissue and Cell Sections Hematoxylin and Eosin Staining of Tissue and Cell Sections, Cold Spring Harb. Protoc. (2008) 3–5.
- [81] W. Cui, D.D. Taub, K. Gardner, qPrimerDepot: a primer database for quantitative real time PCR, Nucleic Acids Res. 35 (2007) D805–D809.
- [82] Y. Fang, S. Yu, Y. Ma, P. Sun, D. Ma, C. Ji, B. Kong, Association of Dll4/Notch and HIF-1a VEGF Signaling in the Angiogenesis of Missed Abortion, PLoS One. 8 (2013) 1–7.
- [83] J. Zhang, D. Ma, J. Ye, S. Zang, F. Lu, M. Yang, X. Qu, X. Sun, C. Ji, Prognostic impact of δlike ligand 4 and Notch1 in acute myeloid leukemia, Oncol. Rep. 28 (2012) 1503–1511.
- [84] T.B. Morrison, J.J. Weis, C.T. Wittwer, Quantification of low-copy transcripts by continuous SYBR green I monitoring during amplification, 1998.
- [85] A.R. Pedrosa, A. Trindade, A.C. Fernandes, C. Carvalho, J. Gigante, A.T. Tavares, R. Diéguez-Hurtado, H. Yagita, R.H. Adams, A. Duarte, Endothelial jagged1 antagonizes Dll4 regulation of endothelial branching and promotes vascular maturation downstream of Dll4/Notch1, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 35 (2015) 1134–1146.
- [86] V.C. Oliveira, R.C. V Carrara, D.L.C. Simoes, F.P. Saggioro, C.G. Carlotti, D.T. Covas, L. Neder, Sudan Black B treatment reduces autofluorescence and improves resolution of in situhybridization specific fluorescent signals of brain sections, Histol. Histopathol. 25 (2010) 1017–1024.

- [87] M. Wessendorf, Autofluorescence: Causes and Cures, Internet. (2004) 1–8.
- [88] W. Beisker, F. Dolbeare, J.W. Gray, An improved immunocytochemical procedure for highsensitivity detection of incorporated bromodeoxyuridine., Cytometry. 8 (1987) 235–239.
- [89] N. Villa, L. Walker, C.E. Lindsell, J. Gasson, M.L. Iruela-Arispe, G. Weinmaster, Vascular expression of Notch pathway receptors and ligands is restricted to arterial vessels, Mech. Dev. 108 (2001) 161–164.
- [90] S. Menini, C. Iacobini, C. Ricci, C.B. Fantauzzi, L. Salvi, C.M. Pesce, M. Relucenti, G. Familiari, M. Taurino, G. Pugliese, The galectin-3/RAGE dyad modulates vascular osteogenesis in atherosclerosis, Cardiovasc. Res. 100 (2013) 472–480.
- [91] R. Fukumitsu, M. Minami, K. Yoshida, M. Nagata, M. Yasui, S. Higuchi, Expression of Vasohibin-1 in Human Carotid Atherosclerotic Plaque, (2015) 10–13.
- [92] F. Herr, I. Schreiner, N. Baal, C. Pfarrer, M. Zygmunt, Expression patterns of Notch receptors and their ligands Jagged and Delta in human placenta, Placenta. 32 (2011) 554–563.
- [93] P.R. Moreno, K.R. Purushothaman, M. Sirol, A.P. Levy, V. Fuster, Neovascularization in human atherosclerosis, Circulation. 113 (2006) 2245–2252.
- [94] M. Jeziorska, D.E. Woolley, Neovascularization in early atherosclerotic lesions of human carotid arteries: Its potential contribution to plaque development, Hum. Pathol. 30 (1999) 919– 925.
- [95] J.C. Sluimer, F.D. Kolodgie, A.P.J.J. Bijnens, K. Maxfield, E. Pacheco, B. Kutys, H. Duimel, P.M. Frederik, V.W.M. van Hinsbergh, R. Virmani, M.J. a P. Daemen, Thin-Walled Microvessels in Human Coronary Atherosclerotic Plaques Show Incomplete Endothelial Junctions. Relevance of Compromised Structural Integrity for Intraplaque Microvascular Leakage, J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 53 (2009) 1517–1527.
- [96] B.J. Dunmore, M.J. McCarthy, a. R. Naylor, N.P.J. Brindle, Carotid plaque instability and ischemic symptoms are linked to immaturity of microvessels within plaques, J. Vasc. Surg. 45 (2007) 155–159.
- [97] M.C.M. Finnegan, J.R. Goepel, B.W. Hancock, M.H. Goyns, Investigation of the Expression of Housekeeping Genes in Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma, Leuk. Lymphoma. 10 (1993) 387–393.
- [98] M. Brisson, L. Tan, R. Park, K. Hamby, B. Laboratories, Identification of Nonspecific Products Using Melt-Curve Analysis on the iCycler iQ<sup>TM</sup> Detection System, Tech Note, Bio-Rad. (2000) 1–6.
- [99] B. Doyle, N. Caplice, Plaque Neovascularization and Antiangiogenic Therapy for Atherosclerosis, J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 49 (2007) 2073–2080.
- [100] R. Mofidi, T.B. Crotty, P. McCarthy, S.J. Sheehan, D. Mehigan, T. V. Keaveny, Association between plaque instability, angiogenesis and symptomatic carotid occlusive disease, Br. J. Surg. 88 (2001) 945–950.
- [101] A.J. Reininger, I. Bernlochner, S.M. Penz, C. Ravanat, P. Smethurst, R.W. Farndale, C. Gachet, R. Brandl, W. Siess, A 2-Step Mechanism of Arterial Thrombus Formation Induced by Human Atherosclerotic Plaques, J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 55 (2010) 1147–1158.

- [102] S. a Schnell, W. a Staines, M.W. Wessendorf, Reduction of lipofuscin-like autofluorescence in fluorescently labeled tissue., J. Histochem. Cytochem. 47 (1999) 719–30.
- [103] S. Dalager, W.P. Paaske, I.B. Kristensen, J.M. Laurberg, E. Falk, Artery-related differences in atherosclerosis expression: Implications for atherogenesis and dynamics in intima-media thickness, Stroke. 38 (2007) 2698–2705.
- [104] P. Rizzo, R. Ferrari, The Notch pathway: a new therapeutic target in atherosclerosis?, Eur. Hear. J. Suppl. 17 (2015) A74–A76.
- [105] Z. Liu, Y. Tan, G.W. Beecham, D.M. Seo, R. Tian, Y. Li, R.I. Vazquez-padron, M. Pericakvance, J.M. Vance, J. Pascal, A.S. Livingstone, O.C. Velazquez, Notch Activation Induces Endothelial Cell Senescence and Pro- inflammatory Response: Implication of Notch Signaling in Atherosclerosis, 225 (2013) 296–303.
- [106] A. Trindade, S.R. Kumar, J.S. Scehnet, L. Lopes-Da-costa, J. Becker, W. Jiang, R. Liu, P.S. Gill, A. Duarte, Overexpression of delta-like 4 induces arterialization and attenuates vessel formation in developing mouse embryos, Blood. 112 (2008) 1720–1729.

## 7 ANNEXES Annex I - Statement of Informed Consent



FORM

#### DECLARAÇÃO DE CONSENTIMENTO INFORMADO

#### INFORMAÇÃO AO DADOR DE AMOSTRAS BIOLÓGICAS

#### Título do projecto de investigação

*Biobanco* do Instituto de Medicina Molecular (IMM) da Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de Lisboa - Banco de amostras biológicas Humanas para fins de investigação biomédica

#### **Objectivo do Estudo**

A criação de um banco de amostras biológicas humanas permitirá o desenvolvimento de ferramentas de diagnóstico e investigação em múltiplas áreas da medicina, com especial impacto em doenças crónicas, como as doenças oncológicas, cardiovasculares, neurológicas, ósseas e imunológicas. Contudo, este objectivo só será cumprido com a colaboração dos doentes e de indivíduos saudáveis, através da doação de amostras biológicas que serão guardadas e preservadas em condições apropriadas de forma a serem utilizadas para futuros estudos. Caso o doente ou indivíduo saudável e/ou o seu representante legal decida participar, terá de fazer apenas os procedimentos habituais de uma consulta.

#### Procedimentos

No caso de concordar em participar neste projecto, ser-lhe-á colhida uma amostra biológica. A amostra habitualmente solicitada será aproveitada a partir da colheita de sangue e/ou urina que irá efetuar. Para os indivíduos que estejam a realizar exames diagnósticos ou que estejam a ser sujeitos a tratamentos cirúrgicos poderá ser pedida autorização para colheita de uma pequena amostra do material removido durante o procedimento (como por exemplo saliva, liquido cefalo-raquidiano, tecidos removidos para biópsias ou removidos no decurso de cirurgias). Estas colheitas serão efetuadas sem alterar os procedimentos médicos habituais e sem interferir com a rentabilidade diagnóstica do procedimento ou com o sucesso da cirurgia. Esta amostra será preservada em condições apropriadas e as informações clínicas com ela relacionada serão introduzidas numa base de dados, passando a sua identificação pessoal a estar codificada e não acessível aos utilizadores das amostras.

A doação da amostra é voluntária e revogável, sendo que o dador, ou o seu representante legal, tem o direito de retirar a amostra e/ou interromper a colaboração assim que achar conveniente, sem necessidade de justificação e não podendo ser descriminado por isso. O dador ou o seu representante legal deverá manifestar por escrito a sua vontade em retirar a amostra ou interromper a colaboração e nestas situações a amostra será imediatamente destruída.

O Biobanco do IMM propõe-se armazenar as amostras biológicas e seus possíveis derivados tais como, soro, plasma, DNA, RNA e células. No caso da colheita de sangue ou em qualquer outra circunstância de colheita para a qual seja necessário um acto médico invasivo será adoptada uma técnica de imortalização de células, evitando-se assim nova colheita de amostra.

O biobanco do IMM não divulgará resultados envolvendo o material biológico. No entanto, o dador poderá escolher se quer ser informado dos resultados com potencial relevância para a sua saúde. O pedido de resultados deverá ser feito por escrito para o Biobanco do IMM pelo dador ou representante legal e deve ser expresso no consentimento informado.

Serão cumpridas todas as normas éticas aceites internacionalmente para o uso de matérias biológicos para fins de investigação. Todos os projetos que fizerem uso das amostras depositadas no Biobanco do IMM serão submetidos à Comissão de Ética competente para a sua avaliação.

#### Identificação das amostras e Confidencialidade

A existência de um biobanco pressupõe a existência de uma base de dados contendo informação clínica referente ao doente ou indivíduo saudável. Após a colheita, as amostras serão identificadas por um código de forma a preservar a privacidade.

Durante o desenvolvimento de um projecto de investigação, a equipa de investigação poderá ter necessidade de recolher informação do processo clínico para a execução do estudo. O anonimato será, contudo mantido, ou seja os dados constantes do seu processo clínico serão fornecidos ao investigador, mas sem qualquer identificação, ou qualquer informação que permita saber a quem pertencem.

A descodificação apenas poderá ser efectuada pelo médico (que será o responsável pela base de dados, de acordo com a informação fornecida à Comissão Nacional de Protecção de Dados - CNPD), em caso de absoluta necessidade, por motivos de saúde do dador e a pedido deste, e sempre de acordo com as disposições legais em vigor.

Os dados serão tratados confidencialmente, de acordo com a Lei, com os regulamentos e de acordo com as normas éticas aprovadas pela Comissão de Ética do CHLN/FMUL e pela CNPD.

Os dados resultantes dos estudos realizados serão alvo de publicação de uma forma anónima e agregada, em termos de percentagens ou de dados numéricos, nunca individualmente.

#### Tempo de conservação

As amostras serão conservadas por um período de 20 anos no Biobanco do Instituto de Medicina Molecular (IMM) da Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de Lisboa, sob a responsabilidade da Equipa ligada ao projecto,

### FORM



### DECLARAÇÃO DE CONSENTIMENTO INFORMADO

enquanto este estiver devidamente credenciado pelas entidades competentes. As coleções de amostras serão avaliadas periodicamente, nomeadamente para aferir da sua qualidade, podendo ser destruídas ou, findo o período da conservação, poder-se-á solicitar a prorrogação da conservação. Nestas condições excecionais o Biobanco do IMM poderá recontactar os dadores.

#### Comunicação e divulgação de dados

Os dados genéticos e as amostras biológicas colhidas para fins de investigação científica podem ser transferidos para outras organizações ou centros de investigação, para fins de pesquisa e somente em projetos desenvolvidos conjuntamente com o IMM, mediante consentimento do participante expresso na declaração de consentimento informado.

#### Possíveis Benefícios para os Participantes

Esta é uma doação altruísta, não havendo por isso qualquer compensação para o dador. Não se garante que este estudo envolva quaisquer benefícios directos para o participante. Se algum dos estudos puder ser relevante para a saúde do dador, este será informado, se essa for a sua vontade expressa na declaração de consentimento informado. Contudo, a sua participação proporcionará a aquisição de conhecimentos que poderão vir a beneficiá-lo a si ou a terceiros no futuro.

#### **Riscos físicos previsíveis**

Na maioria dos casos, os riscos e o desconforto associados serão mínimos ou inexistentes. Nas colheitas associadas a procedimentos com fins diagnósticos ou terapêuticos, os riscos e o desconforto serão os inerentes ao procedimento em si. Em qualquer dos casos, o dador será sempre antecipadamente informado dos riscos e grau de desconforto associados aos procedimentos.

#### Participação Voluntária e Direitos de Abandono

O presumível dador terá toda a liberdade para se recusar a participar no estudo ou retirar o seu consentimento, suspendendo a participação em qualquer momento e, consequentemente, as amostras serão destruídas. A participação é voluntária e a sua recusa em participar não envolverá qualquer penalização ou perda de benefícios. A recusa ou abandono não colocarão em risco o direito a receber tratamento ou assistência médica, presentemente ou no futuro.

O dador poderá retirar o seu consentimento nas modalidades **sem contacto futuro** (as amostras poderão ser usadas normalmente até se esgotarem, mas não serão estabelecidos futuros contactos para a obtenção de mais amostras) ou **sem uso futuro** (não serão estabelecidos futuros contactos e as amostras serão imediatamente destruidas e os registos eliminados).

## Se tiver qualquer dúvida, em qualquer momento, mesmo após a colheita, sobre este estudo poderá contactar o Director do Biobanco do IMM:

Prof. Doutor Sérgio Dias e Doutor Joaquim Polido Pereira, dirigindo-se a: Dr<sup>a</sup> Angela Maria Afonso Biobanco Instituto de Medicina Molecular Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de Lisboa Telefone: +351 217999437 Ext:47047/92903 Email: immbiobanco@fm.ul.pt Lisboa

FORM

### DECLARAÇÃO DE CONSENTIMENTO INFORMADO

#### DECLARAÇÃO DE CONSENTIMENTO INFORMADO

#### Banco de amostras biológicas para fins de investigação biomédica

Investigador:	Hospital:
Número de estudo do dador:	

Eu,

Eu,	, portadoi do
bilhete de identidade/cartão do cidadão n.º [	], declaro ter tomado conhecimento e aceitar
participar neste projecto, de forma a contribuir para a criação de um	banco de amostras biológicas com informação
clínica associada, para fins de investigação biomédica.	
A sold shows a matching and stand big 14 stands and shifting she was to show a	de la vestime de de messariement des deserres

Aceito que a minha amostra biológica seja utilizada em projectos de investigação de mecanismos das doenças, diagnóstico precoce, fatores de prognóstico e novos alvos terapêuticos em múltiplas áreas da medicina, nomeadamente nas doenças oncológicas, cardiovasculares, neurológicas, ósseas e imunológicas. Poderei revogar a autorização para utilização da minha amostra biológica e informação clínica em qualquer altura.

O objectivo do banco de amostras biológicas foi-me claramente explicado e foi-me dada a oportunidade de colocar questões sobre o seu funcionamento, bem como os procedimentos relativos à colheita e utilização da minha amostra biológica e dados a ela associados.

Declaro que aceito participar, voluntariamente, neste estudo. Especificamente concordo com os seguintes pontos:

 Consinto a colheita de material biológico (sangue / ...... / .......................) e autorizo a conservação de amostras no Biobanco, de modo a que possam ser usados para pesquisas futuras, incluindo estudos genéticos e cultura de linhas celulares por investigadores portugueses e estrangeiros, sem fins lucrativos;

Sim	Não	

 Esta opção é para ser respondida apenas por participantes que já cederam amostras biológicas colhidas no âmbito de outros projetos. Nestas circunstâncias, autorizo a transferência para o Biobanco as minhas amostras biológicas, préviamente colhidas no âmbito de outros projectos, de modo que elas possam ser utilizadas em pesquisas futuras, incluindo estudos genéticos e cultura de linhas celulares por investigadores portugueses e estrangeiros, mas sem fins lucrativos;

Sim	l Não	

 Estou consciente de que minha participação é voluntária e que posso em qualquer altura solicitar a destruição das minhas amostras biológicas, invalidando assim o consentimento informado prévio, sem justificar, tendo recebido a garantia de que o meu pedido não desenvolverá discriminação;

Sim		Não		
-----	--	-----	--	--

Declaro que quero conhecer resultados que possam ser relevantes para a minha saúde.

	ao 📖
--	------

 Autorizo ser contactado novamente pelo Biobanco do IMM para pedido de atualização sobre a minha situação clínica;

Sim 🔲 Não 🗔

Pag. 3/4

. . . . . .

ANNEXES

Ins	tituto	FORM
Lisboa	Medicina lecular	Declaração de Consentimento Informado
• Autorize amostra Sim  N	o o contacto do B as biológicas e/ou in ão	obanco do IMM a familiares meus para pedido autorização de colheita de iformação clínica;
Data		Assinatura do Dador/Representante Legal
Em caso de rep	resentante legal, e	ste actua na qualidade de:
□ Titular do pod	er paternal, quando	o o dador é menor
<ul> <li>Tutor, quando</li> <li>Herdeiro, qua</li> </ul>	o o dador foi declara ndo o dador falece	ado interdito
Discuti este est compreensível seus possíveis	udo de investigaçã e apropriada. Infor benefícios e riscos,	o com o participante e/ou o seu representante legal, utilizando uma linguagem nei adequadamente o participante sobre a natureza deste estudo e sobre os considerando que o participante compreendeu a minha explicação.
Data	Nome d	o Médico Assinatura do Médico
Foi entregue un	n duplicado deste d	ocumento ao doente/representante legal.

Pag. 4/4

## Annex II – Clinical Protocol

### INQUÉRITO

ATHEROGENESIS AND OSTEOPOROSIS COMMON UNDERLYING MECHANISMS

CV\_\_\_\_\_

### DADOS EPIDEMIOLÓGICOS DO DOENTE

Nome:	
NSC:	Data de Nascimento://
Raça:	
Sexo: 🗆 M 🛛 F	
Profissão:	
Escolaridade (nº anos):	
Contacto:	

Causa da cirurgia actual:	
Data da cirurgia actual://	Hora::
Local da cirurgia:	
Cirurgião Vascular assistente:	

	Ν
1. Idade:	
2. PA sistólica (mmHç	g): PA diastólica (mmHg):
3. Tabagismo: 🗆 Fum	nador 🗆 Não fumador
4. Colesterol Total (m	ng/dL):
5. HDL (mg/dL):	
6. LDL (mg/dL):	
7. Trigliceridos (mg/d	iL):
8. Glicemia em jejun	n (mg/dL):
9. PCR (mg/dL):	
14. Creatinina (mg/c	۶L):
15. Ureia:	
16. Ácido Úrico:	
10. Homocisteína:	
11. Cálcio:	
12. Vitamina D:	
13. Coagulação:	
APTT (	tempo doente / tempo controlo): / seg.
APTT ( TP (tei	tempo doente / tempo controlo): / seg. mpo doente / tempo controlo): / seg.
APTT ( TP (ter INR:	'tempo doente / tempo controlo): / seg. mpo doente / tempo controlo): / seg. 
APTT ( TP (ter INR:	itempo doente / tempo controlo): / seg. mpo doente / tempo controlo): / seg. 
APTT ( TP (ter INR: Altura: cm	"tempo doente / tempo controlo): / seg. mpo doente / tempo controlo): / seg.  Peso: Kg % massa gorda:
APTT ( TP (ter INR: Altura: cm IMC:	itempo doente / tempo controlo): / seg. mpo doente / tempo controlo): / seg.  Peso: Kg % massa gorda: Perímetro abdominal: cm
APTT ( TP (ter INR: Altura: cm IMC:	"tempo doente / tempo controlo): / seg. mpo doente / tempo controlo): / seg.  Peso: Kg % massa gorda: Perímetro abdominal: cm
APTT ( TP (ter INR: Altura: cm IMC:	(tempo doente / tempo controlo): / seg. mpo doente / tempo controlo): / seg.  Peso: Kg % massa gorda: Perímetro abdominal: cm
APTT ( TP (ter INR: Altura: cm IMC:	"tempo doente / tempo controlo): / seg. mpo doente / tempo controlo): / seg.  Peso: Kg % massa gorda: Perímetro abdominal: cm
APTT ( TP (ter INR: Altura: cm IMC: FRACTURAS PRÉVIAS Já fez fractura após	"tempo doente / tempo controlo): / seg. mpo doente / tempo controlo): / seg.  Peso: Kg % massa gorda: Perímetro abdominal: cm um traumatismo mínimo ou espontâneas (p.ex queda na rua)?
APTT ( TP (ter INR: Altura: cm IMC: FRACTURAS PRÉVIAS Já fez fractura após □ Não	"tempo doente / tempo controlo): / seg. mpo doente / tempo controlo): / seg.  Peso: Kg % massa gorda: Perímetro abdominal: cm um traumatismo mínimo ou espontâneas (p.ex queda na rua)? Sim
APTT ( TP (ter INR: Altura: cm IMC: cm IMC: FRACTURAS PRÉVIAS Já fez fractura após Não An	"tempo doente / tempo controlo): / seg. mpo doente / tempo controlo): / seg.  Peso: Kg % massa gorda: Perímetro abdominal: cm um traumatismo mínimo ou espontâneas (p.ex queda na rua)? Sim ca Coluna Punho Úmero proximal
APTT ( TP (tel INR: Altura: cm IMC: FRACTURAS PRÉVIAS Já fez fractura após Não An Data:	"tempo doente / tempo controlo): / seg. mpo doente / tempo controlo): / seg.  Peso: Kg % massa gorda: Perímetro abdominal: cm um traumatismo mínimo ou espontâneas (p.ex queda na rua)? D Sim ca D Coluna D Punho D Úmero proximal //
APTT ( TP (ter INR: _ Altura: cm IMC: cm IMC: FRACTURAS PRÉVIAS Já fez fractura após Dá fez fractura após An Data: Idade	"tempo doente / tempo controlo): / seg. mpo doente / tempo controlo): / seg.  Peso: Kg % massa gorda: Perímetro abdominal: cm um traumatismo mínimo ou espontâneas (p.ex queda na rua)? Sim ca Coluna Punho Úmero proximal // s: anos
APTT ( TP (ter INR: Altura: cm IMC: FRACTURAS PRÉVIAS Já fez fractura após Não Não An Data:  Idade	<pre>itempo doente / tempo controlo): / seg. mpo doente / tempo controlo): / seg.  Peso: Kg % massa gorda: Perímetro abdominal: cm um traumatismo mínimo ou espontâneas (p.ex queda na rua)?  Sim ca Coluna Punho Úmero proximal / s: anos vias: Não Sim</pre>

História Familiar		SE			
Algum dos seus	s pais fracturo	u o colo do fér	mur (anca)?		
🗆 Não	sabe	🗆 Não	🗆 Sim		
Qual:	🗆 Pai	🗆 Mãe			
HÁBITOS ALIMENTA	RES E ESTILO DE V	IDA			
HÁBITOS ALCO	<u>ÓLICOS</u>				
Consome ou co	onsumiu:	□ > 3 unidad	es/dia	🗆 < 3 unidades/dia	
Entre que	e idades?				
<u>HÁBITOS TABÁG</u>	<u>SICOS</u>				
Fuma: [	∃ Não	🗆 Sim	N° cigarros/	'dia:	
			Entre que ic	lades?	
Se ex-fumador:	Nº cigo	arros/dia:			
	Entre q	ue idades?			
	ala:				
N° logurres/sem	nana:				
N° tatlas de que	eijo/semana: <u>.</u>				
	nente vegetai			IM	
				algada	
Nº Cales/ala: _			ivenas cha p	breto/did	
actividade eís	ICA				
Actualmente te	em: 🗆 Vida	a sedentária		'ida activa	
Prática reaular	de desporto:	🗆 Não		im	
N° horas	s/semana:		Tipo de des	porto:	
Já fez actividad	de física reaul	ar? □ Não	, ⊃ □ Si	im	
Que actividade	÷ć			Nº horas/semana:	
Entre que idade	es?				
A sua profissão	obriga a efec	ctuar esforço fí	sico intenso?	? 🗆 Não	🗆 Sim

🗆 Não 🛛 Sim	Qual o m	notivo?			
SE MULHER:					
Idade menopausa:	anos		spontânea	🗆 Cirúrgica	
Queda nos unimos <u>a meses</u>			N° quedas: _		
<u>6 mese</u>	$\underline{s} \sqcup Nao$		N° quedas: _	Como?	
<u>12 mes</u>	<u>es</u> ∟ Nao	LI SIM	N° quedas: _	Como?	
ANTECEDENTES PESSOAIS					
1. Artrite Reumatóide	🗆 Não	□ S	im Ido	ade início: a	nos
Médico Assistente:					
2. Lúpus Eritematoso Sistém	<u>ico</u> 🗆	] Não	🗆 Sim	Idade início:	_ anos
Médico Assistente:					
3. <u>Outras doenças inflama</u>	órias sistém	<u>nicas cróni</u>	<u>cas</u>	Não 🗆 Sim	
Quais?			Ido	ade de início:	_ anos
4. <u>HTA</u> □ Não	🗆 Sim				
5. <u>EAM</u> 🗆 Não	🗆 Sim				
6. <u>AVC</u> □ Não	🗆 Sim				
7. <u>Dislipidemia</u> 🗆 No	ão 🗆	] Sim	Qual o tip	0ś	
8. <u>Outras doenças cardiov</u>	<u>asculares</u>	🗆 Não	🗆 Sim Qu	ual o tipo?	
9. Insuficiência renal	🗆 Não	□ S	im He	modiálise?	
10. <u>Patologia de tiróide/po</u>	<u>ratiróide</u>		Não 🗆 Sim	Qual?	
11. <u>Outras doenças endóc</u>	<u>rinas</u>		Não 🗆 Sim	Qual?	
12. <u>Má absorção gastro-int</u>	<u>estinal</u> (ex:	dça Celia	ıca, fibrose qu	uistica) 🗆 Não	🗆 Sim
			Qu	ual?	
13. <u>Neoplasias</u> 🗆 Não	🗆 Sim	n Qual?		Idade início:	anos
14. <u>Doença óssea metabó</u>	lica (osteop	<u>oorose, do</u>	<u>ença óssea c</u>	l <u>e Paget)</u> 🗆 Não	🗆 Sim
Qual?			Idade iníc	io: anos	
15. <u>Outras doenças actuai</u>	<u>s:</u> 🗆 Não	🗆 Sim (e	specificar do	ença e idade de ir	nício)
16. <u>Outras doenças no pas</u>	<u>saao:</u> 니 N	iao 🗆 Sim	1 (especificar	aoença e idade c	ie inicio)

### O doente está ou esteve acamado ou imobilizado por mais de 3 meses?

ANNEXES

17. Conterapia oral por mais de 3 meses: 🗆 Não I	L SIM
--------------------------------------------------	-------

Dose máxima diária \_\_\_\_\_

### **ANTECEDENTES FAMILIARES**

1. <u>Artrite Reun</u>	<u>natóide</u>	🗆 Não	🗆 Não sab	be 🗆	l Sim
2. <u>Lúpus Eriten</u>	natoso Sistémic	<u>:o</u> □ Nĉ	io 🗆 N	Vão sabe	🗆 Sim
3. <u>Outra doen</u>	<u>iça reumática</u>	🗆 Nõ	io 🗆 N	vão sabe	🗆 Sim
					Qual?
5. <u>HTA</u>	🗆 Não	🗆 Não sabe	□ S	Sim	
6. <u>EAM</u>	🗆 Não	🗆 Não sabe	□ S	Sim	
7. <u>AVC</u>	🗆 Não	🗆 Não sabe	□ S	Sim	
8. <u>Dislipidemic</u>	<u>ı</u> 🗆 Não	D 🗆 Nã	io sabe	🗆 Sim	
				Qual o tij	
9. <u>Outras doe</u>	nças cardiova:	sculares 🗆	Não 🗆 Nã	o sabe	🗆 Sim
					Qual?
10. <u>Aneurisma</u>	<u>Is</u> □ Não	D D NĜ	io sabe	🗆 Sim	

### TERAPÊUTICA ACTUAL

\_\_\_\_

TERAPÊUTICA TERAPÊUTICA (POR MAIS D	E 3 N	NESES)	
	S	Ν	Ş

	S	Ν	Ś				
Glicorticóide				Dose	Data Inicio	Duração	Qual?
Anticoagulantes				Dose	Data Inicio	Duração	Qual?
Bifosfonato				Dose	Data Inicio	Duração	Qual?
SERM				Dose	Data Inicio	Duração	
Estrôncio				Dose	Data Inicio	Duração	
Teriparatida				Dose	Data Inicio	Duração	
Suplemento Ca				Dose	Data Inicio	Duração	
Vitamina D				Dose	Data Inicio	Duração	
B-bloqueantes				Dose	Data Inicio	Duração	Qual?
IECA				Dose	Data Inicio	Duração	Qual?
ARA				Dose	Data Inicio	Duração	Qual?
Diuréticos				Dose	Data Inicio	Duração	Qual?
Vasodilatadores				Dose	Data Inicio	Duração	Qual?
Hipolipidemiantes				Dose	Data Inicio	Duração	Qual?
Estatinas				Dose	Data Inicio	Duração	
AAS				Dose	Data Inicio	Duração	
Antidiabéticos orais/insulina				Dose	Data Inicio	Duração	
Denosumab				Dose	Data Inicio	Duração	

Outras terapêuticas actuais ou anteriores (especificar terapêutica e data de início): \_\_\_\_\_

Data de preenchimento do protocolo: \_\_\_\_/\_\_\_/\_\_\_\_

Assinatura: \_\_\_\_

## **Annex III - Solutions and Buffers**

**TAE (Tris-acetate-EDTA) Buffer:** This buffer was used both in the agarose gel and as electrophoresis running buffer. The 1X working solution is made from a 50X stock solution prepared by dissolving 242 g of Trizma® base (Sigma-Aldrich, USA), 57.1 mL of glacial acetic acid (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) and 100 mL of EDTA 0.5M pH8.0 (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) in deionized water to a final volume of 1L.

**PBS (Phosphate-Buffered Saline) Buffer:** 8 g of NaCl (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) is added to 0.2 g of KCl (Merck, Germany), 1.44 g of NaHPO<sub>4</sub> (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) and 0.24 g of KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) and dissolved in 800 mL of deionized water. The pH is adjusted to 7.4 with HCl (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) and deionized water is then added to perform a total volume of 1 L. The buffer is finally sterilized by autoclaving 20 min at 121°C.

**DAPI:** 5 mg of DAPI® dilactate (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) is added to 50 mL of double-distilled water and agitated with a magnetic stir bar during 60 min. The solution is then filtered through a 0.22  $\mu$ m pore filter and stored at -20°C in 500  $\mu$ l aliquots.

**Mowiol:** 6 g of glycerol (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) is mixed with 2.4 g of Mowiol® (Calbiochem, USA), 6 mL of double-distilled water and 12 mL of 0.2M Tris-HCl pH8.5 (Sigma-Aldrich, USA). This mixture is stirring during six hours and left to rest for two hours. To dissolve the Mowiol, the tube with the mixture is incubated at 50°C for 10 min. After centrifugation (5000g, 15 min) to remove any undissolved solids, the supernatant is aliquoted and stored at -20°C.

**4% Paraformaldehyde Solution (4%PFA):** 800 mL of 1X PBS was heated at 60°C before adding 40 g of paraformaldehyde powder (Sigma-Aldrich, USA). The pH was raised by adding 1M NaOH (Sigma-Aldrich, USA). After the paraformaldehyde was dissolved, the solution was cooled down, filtered and the volume was adjusted to 1 L with 1X PBS. The pH was rechecked and adjusted with small amounts of dilute HCl (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) to approximately 6.9. The solution was aliquoted and stored at -20°C.

## **Annex IV – Primer Sequences**

Table 7.1. Finners sequence used in rear time Ferk (RT-qFerk).				
_	Primer name	Oligonucleotide sequence (5'-3')	Gene	Source
	18S (Fw)	TGTGATGCCCTTAGATGTCC	18S	Probefinder
	18S (Rev)	CTTATGACCCGCACTTACTG		
	Dll4 (Fw)	AGGCCTGTTTTGTGACCAAG	DLL4	qPrimerDepot
	Dll4 (Rev)	GTGCAGGTGTAGCTTCGCT		
	Dll4 new (Fw)	CCTGGCAATGTACTTGTGAT	DLL4	[82]
	Dll4 new (Rev)	TGGTGGGTGAGTAGTTGAG		
	Dll4 160bp (Fw)	GCCAACTATGCTTGTGAATGTCC	DLL4	[83]
	Dll4 160bp (Rev)	CAGTAGGTGCCCGTGAATCC		
	Pecam (Fw)	CCTTCTGCTCTGTTCAAGCC	PECAM	qPrimerDepot
	Pecam (Rev)	GGGTCAGGTTCTTCCCATTT		
	Notch1 (Fw)	CCTTCTGCTCTGTTCAAGCC	NOTCH1	qPrimerDepot
	Notch1 (Rev)	GTTGGGGTCCTGGCATC		
	Tie2 (Fw)	GGAGTCAGCTTGCTCCTTTC	TIE2	qPrimerDepot
	Tie2 (Rev)	AGGCAATGCAGGTGAGAGAT		
	Ang1 (Fw)	ACCGGATTTCTCTTCCCAGA	ANG1	qPrimerDepot
	Ang1 (Rev)	CCGACTTCATGTTTTCCACA		
	Ang2 (Fw)	CCTACGTGTCCAATGCTGTG	ANG2	qPrimerDepot
	Ang2 (Rev)	GCCACTGAGTGTTGTTTTCC		
	VEGF(Fw)	CTACCTCCACCATGCAAGT	VEGF	qPrimerDepot
	VEGF (Rev)	AGCTGCGCTGATAGACATCC		
	VEGFR1(Fw)	AAGAAGGAAACAGAATCTGCAA	VEGFR1	qPrimerDepot
	VEGFR1(Rev)	TCCCTTCCTTCAGTCATGTGT		
	VEGFR2 (Fw)	CCTGTATGGAGGAGGAGGAA	VEGFR2	qPrimerDepot
	VEGFR2 (Rev)	CGGCTCTTTCGCTTACTGTT		
	Jag1 (Fw)	ATCGTGCTGCCTTTCAGTTT	JAG1	qPrimerDepot
	Jag1 (Rev)	ACTGTCAGGTTGAACGGTGTC		
	Hey1 (Fw)	TGGATCACCTGAAAATGCTG	HEY1	qPrimerDepot
	Hey1 (Rev)	CGAAATCCCAAACTCCGATA		
	Hey2 (Fw)	TTTGAAGATGCTTCAGGCAA	HEY2	qPrimerDepot
	Hey2 (Rev)	GGCACTCTCGGAATCCTATG		
	PDGFRβ (Fw)	AACTGTGCCCACACCAGAAG	PDGFRβ	qPrimerDepot
	PDGFRβ (Rev)	CAGGAGAGACAGCAACAGCA		
	α-SMA (Fw)	CAGCCAAGCACTGTCAGG	α-SMA	qPrimerDepot
	α-SMA (Rev)	CCAGAGCCATTGTCACACAC		
	Calponin (Fw)	CTGAGAGAGTGGATCGAGGG	CALPONIN	qPrimerDepot
	Calponin (Rev)	CTGGCTGCAGCTTATTGATG		
	EphB2 (Fw)	CTTCGAGGCCGTTGAGAAT	EPHB2	qPrimerDepot
	EphB2 (Rev)	TTGATGGGACAGTGGGTACA	CD 14	D' D
	CD34 (Fw)		CD34	qPrimerDepot
	CD34(Rev)	ATTIGAAAATGTTCCCTGGGT		
	CD68 (Fw)	TTCACCAGCTGTCCACCTC	CD68	qPrimerDepot
	(1)68 (Rev)			

Table 7.1. Primers sequence used in real time PCR (RT-qPCR).

CD68 (Rev)CACTGGGGCAGGAGAGAAACTDll4 - Delta-like 4; PECAM - Platelet Endothelial Cell Adhesion Molecule; Ang - Angiopoitin; VEGF - Vascular<br/>Endothelial Growth Factor; VEGFR - Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Receptor; JAG - Jagged; PDGFRβ -<br/>Platelet-Derived Growth Factor Receptor β ; α-SMA - alpha smooth muscle actin;<br/>qPrimerDepot - https://primerdepot.nci.nih.gov [81]; ProbeFinder - https://qpcr.probefinder.com